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Our Core Values

Mission 

To be customer focused, innovative and efficient.

To be the preferred provider of superior financial
products and services through caring professional

staff and appropriate technology.

To exceed shareholder expectations and be a
catalyst for development.

Service excellence
Uncompromising commitment to satisfy
the financial needs of our customer

reSultS OrientatiOn
Holding ourselves accountable for actions and 
behaviors that lead to the realization of our vision, 
mission and values.

reSpect fOr the individual
Building strong relationships by respecting each 
other.

integrity
Upholding high moral principles and ethical 
standards.

teamwOrk & cOllabOratiOn
Using complementary and collective knowledge to 
execute the organizational plans.

prOfeSSiOnaliSm
Demonstrating the highest level of
skill in executing our day to day activities.

SOcial reSpOnSibility
Contributing to the development of ethical and social 
values in our communities.
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thirteenth annuaL 
Meeting 

Notice is hereby giveN that the thirteeNth aNNual MeetiNg of the 
east caribbeaN fiNaNcial holdiNg coMpaNy liMited will be held at 
the NatioNal culture ceNtre, barNard hill, castries, saiNt lucia oN 
thursday JuNe 12th 2014, at 5:00 p.M., for the followiNg purposes

1. to consider and adopt the report of the auditors and the audited financial statements  
 for the year ended december 31, 2013 

2. to consider and adopt the report of directors

3.	 To	Appoint	Auditors	and	authorize	Directors	to	fix	their	remuneration	

5. to elect directors

nOte:

perSOnS entitled tO nOtice
in accordance with section 108(2) of the companies act, chapter 13.01 revised laws of saint lucia 2001, the directors 
of	the	Company	have	fixed	May	12,	2014	as	the	Record	Date	for	the	determination	of	shareholders	who	are	entitled	to	
receive	Notice	of	the	Annual	Meeting.		A	list	of	such	shareholders	will	be	available	for	examination	by	shareholders	at	
the	Registered	Office	of	the	company	during	usual	business	hours.

by Order Of the bOard

 
      

estherlita cumberbatch
corporate secretary
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COrPOrate 
infOrMatiOn
Registered Office and Postal Address  
#	1	Bridge	Street,	P	O	Box		1860
castries, saint lucia, west indies.

Email Address  
ecfh@candw.lc

website address  
www.ecfh.com  

Telephone Number 
(758)	456	6000

fax number  
(758)	456	6702

chairman
lisle chase, fcca, ca  

Corporate Secretary 
estherlita cumberbatch b.sc. (Mgmt), llb (hons)

Legal Counsel 
deterville & thomas
99 chaussee road  
P	O	Box	835	
castries, saint lucia

Subsidiaries
Bank of Saint Lucia Limited 
# 1 bridge street
P.O.	Box	1862
castries, saint lucia, west indies
Tel:	(758)	456	6000
Fax:	(758)	456	6720
email: info@bankofsaintlucia.com
website: www.bankofsaintlucia.com 
 

Bank of Saint Lucia International Limited
P.O.	Box	RB	2385
ecfh building, willie volney drive
Massade, gros islet
saint lucia, west indies

Bank of St Vincent & the Grenadines Limited
reigate building, granby street     
P.O.	Box	880
Kingstown, st vincent
tel: (784) 457 1844
Fax:	(758)	456	2612
email: info@bosvg.com 
website: www.bosvg.com

ECFH Global Investment Solutions Limited 
# 1 bridge street
P.O.	Box	1862
castries, saint lucia, west indies
Tel:	(758)	456	6826
Fax:	(758)	456	6740
email: info@ecfhglobalinvestments.com 
website: www.ecfhglobalinvestments.com
 

EC Global Insurance Company Limited
# 2 bridge street
P.O.	Box	1860
castries, saint lucia, west indies
tel: (758) 451 3244
Fax:	(758)	458	1222
email : ecglobal@ecfh.com
website: www.ecglobalinsurance.com  

Regulators
eastern caribbean central bank
eastern caribbean securities regulatory commission 
Ministry of finance – saint lucia
Ministry of finance – st. vincent & the grenadines
financial intelligence unit – st. vincent & the grenadines
financial services supervisory unit – saint lucia
registrar of insurance – saint lucia

External Auditors
ernst & young
Chartered Accountants
Mardini Building
Bay Walk Mall
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet 
Saint Lucia

ECFH Ownership

Name              Percentage of Holding

private individuals & institutions   29%
government of saint lucia    20%
republic bank limited    20%
National insurance corporation (saint lucia)  17%
oecs indigenous banks & financial institutions 14%
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COrresPOndent banKs 
and reLatiOnshiPs fOr 
banKing subsidiaries

OecS
antigua commercial bank 
eastern caribbean amalgamated bank (ecab)
first citizens investment services limited
National bank of anguilla limited
National bank of dominica limited
republic bank of grenada limited
saint Kitts, Nevis, anguilla National bank limited

regiOnal
first citizens bank limited
National commercial bank of Jamaica limited
republic bank barbados limited
republic bank trinidad limited
republic bank guyana ltd
rbc dominion securities global limited
unit trust corporation

internatiOnal
bank of america Na  
bank of New york
banque cramer & cie sa 
banque heritage sa
citibank Na
commerzbank ag
crown agents financial services limited
deutsche bank securities, inc
dominick company ag, private bank
the hong Kong and shanghai banking corporation limited
iNg belgium sa/Nv
london & capital 
lloyds tsb bank plc
Morgan stanley smith barney
private investment bank limited
toronto dominion bank
ubs international inc
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struCture

eaSt caribbean financial hOlding 
cOmpany limited

bank Of 
Saint
lucia

limited

100%

ec glObal 
inSurance 

limited

70%

ecfh glObal
inveStment
SOlutiOnS

limited

100%

bank Of 
St vincent

& the 
grenadineS

limited

51%

bank Of Saint
lucia

internatiOnal
limited

100%

ecfh cOrpOrate prOfile  

Name of Company

east caribbean 
financial holding 
company limited

bank of saint lucia 
limited 

ec global insurance 
company limited 

bank of saint lucia 
international limited 

ecfh global 
investment solutions 
limited

bank of st. vincent 
& the grenadines 
limited 

business

group parent holding 
company

universal banking – retail, 
commercial, corporate, 
development, wealth & 
asset Management

general insurance

private and/or offshore 
banking 

brokerage and Merchant 
banking

universal banking – retail, 
commercial, investment 
banking

period 
Established/ 
acquired

2001

2001

2004

2004

2008

2010

Capitalization
2013
ec $m

239.8

139.4

3.2

34.9

3.3

100.2

Balance Sheet 
assets 2013
ec $m

370.1

1904.6

13.7

1005.1

3.9

834.3

Principal Officer

esther brown-
weekes

hadyn gittens

leathon Khan

Ryan	Devaux

diane augustin  

derry williams

the ecfh grOup Structure
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finanCiaL 
highLights

income Statement 

interest income

-	Interest	Expense

= net interest income
+ other income net

= Operating income
- staff costs

- administrative costs

- impairment losses - loans &  investments

= Net (Loss) / Income before Taxes and   Dividends
+	/	(-)	Taxes

- dividends on preference shares

+/ (-) Minority interest

= Net (Loss) / Income after Taxes and Minority Interest

Balance Sheet

cash and balances with central bank

+ investments

+ Net  loans

+ other

 = total assets

   deposits & other funding instruments

+ borrowings

+ other liabilities

+ capital

 = Total Liabilities and Capital
 

Other information

rOe 
rOa
Ordinary Dividend Payout % age
Book Value of Ordinary Shares ($)
Average Market Value of Ordinary Shares ($)
(Loss) /Earnings per Ordinary Share ($)
Dividends per Ordinary Share ($)
Provisions as % of Loan Portfolio
Provisions as % of Non-performing Loan  Portfolio

2013
ec$000

170,133

84,237

85,896
67,671

153,567
47,393

60,081

39,954

6,139
(2,439)

(291)

(3,504)

(95)

166,613

1,385,622

1,868,728

303,371

3,724,334
3,181,671

213,125

68,827

260,711

3,724,334

(0.04%)
-
-

8.62
7.93

-
-

10.7%
42.0%

2012
ec$000

 

175,301

82,173

93,128
50,444

143,572
43,864

57,318

161,962

(119,572)
(3,088)

(291)

(2,500)

(125,451)

196,889

987,232

1,868,294

310,328

3,362,743
2,827,500

203,913

     54,388

			276,942

3,362,743

(37.2%)
(3.7%)
(2.0%)

9.43
10.86
(5.13)

0.10
10.1%
72.0%

2011
ec$000

181,337

84,134

97,203
44,246

141,449
43,491

55,313

35,615

7,030
1,649

(291)

(2,753)

5,635

144,923

844,449

1,849,160

350,973

 3,189,505
2,560,392

			196,800

     47,484

   384,829

3,189,505

1.5%
0.2%

43.4%
13.84
12.40
0.23
0.10

3.6%
29.7%

2010
ec$000

138,034

63,090

74,944
38,291

113,235
36,297

37,858

32,629

6,451
3,239

(291)

(168)

9,231

212,649

1,075,496

1,725,382

267,467

 3,280,994
2,619,226

   207,177

					68,213

			386,378

3,280,994
 

 

2.5%
0.3%

79.5%
14.02
14.23
0.38
0.30

2.5%
30.0%

2009
ec$000

129,848

53,120

76,728
35,102

111,830
33,284

32,839

5,888

39,819
(13,721)

(378)

(160)

25,560

76,604

575,657

1,314,827

202,194         

2,169,282        
1,539,946

       231,909 

         58,303

      339,124 

    2,169,282 
 

7.7%
1.2%

47.4%
13.97
13.09

1.06
0.50

1.7%
24.8%
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Overview
The	 financial	 landscape	 for	
the business operations of 
the ecfh group remains 
challenging.  the market 
environment	 for	 the	financial	
industry is affected by a 
sustained period of low 
growth, high credit risk 
resulting in increased levels 
of delinquency, thin interest 
rate spreads and increasing 
regulatory requirements.  in 
the face of the adverse impact 
of the operating environment 
and the general economic 
conditions, the group has 
commenced the process of 
change required to achieve 
a turnaround in performance. 

The	 impact	 of	 the	 economic	 environment	 on	 the	 financial	
performance of the bank of saint lucia limited (bosl) in particular 
remains severe, although there are some positive indicators. the 
other subsidiaries of the group, bank of saint lucia international, 
bank of st. vincent and the grenadines, ecfh global investment 
Solutions		all	recorded	profit	and	growth	in	2013.	The	performance	
of the group has improved as a direct result of somewhat lower 
loan loss provisioning in 2013, allowing for the return to a position 
of	profitability	for	the	year,	recorded	at	a	net	profit	after	tax	of	$3.4	
million for the group. 

although bosl reported a loss for the year, the level of impairment 
provisioning	 declined	 from	 the	 previous	 year	 high	 of	 $128m	 to	
$40m;	 non-	 interest	 income	 showed	 an	 increase	 of	 10%	 over	
2012;	liquidity	levels	remained	high	and	we	were	able	to	recover	
on some impairment losses made against investments.   we 
have taken decisive action on the largest non-productive loan 
accounts including receiverships where required, with additional 
action to reduce the delinquent portfolio ongoing. this action 
has necessitated further provisions as the valuations of collateral 
continue to decline.  all of these measures will result in improved 
performance for the bank in the future.  the domestic economic 
conditions placed some pressure on the bank’s ability to generate 
increased revenue and therefore more stringent cost management 
is being implemented to counteract that risk. the bank remains 
well within the regulatory capital requirements however the board 
maintains the view that additional capital is essential to protect the 
bank	against	external	shocks	and	to	lay	a	platform	for	sustainable	
profit	in	the	medium	to	long	term.	

we have been working diligently to make the necessary changes 
to strengthen the group and to achieve improved performance.  
Major focus is being placed on areas of risk management, in 
particular	 credit	 risk	 and	 debt	 recoveries,	 efficiency	 and	 cost	
management, capital adequacy and corporate governance.  

governance
the board of directors is committed to ensuring sound principles 
and practices of governance across all subsidiaries of the group. in 
2013 all committees of the board were reviewed and directorships 
increased or restructured as necessary. the corporate governance 
committee met a number of times under the newly appointed 

chairman and a very critical risk Management committee of the 
board was appointed to ensure proper oversight on all areas of 
risk	across	the	Group.	There	are	now	five	committees	of	the	Board	
and in accordance with the corporate governance policy these 
committees met frequently in 2013 in an effort to ensure that board 
policy and strategies are successfully implemented. 

changes were also effected in the organizational structure with 
the appointment of a general Manager for bosl, implementing 
separation of duties from that of group Managing director, in 
order to ensure adequate and appropriate focus on the business 
operations	 and	 management	 of	 the	 Bank.	 	 An	 experienced	
senior Manager was recruited to head the debt recoveries and 
collections department to deal with the more challenging area of 
focus for the domestic bank. 

during the year a number of directors from the subsidiaries of the 
group moved on and i wish to thank them all for their contributions 
to the respective subsidiaries and ecfh in general.

Strategic initiatives  
in the past year, the board of directors spent a great deal 
of time recalibrating the group’s strategy in response to the 
previous	 year’s	 financial	 performance	 and	 the	 continued	 impact	
of the sluggish economic environment. our focus was largely on 
resolving the credit risk issues and strengthening the capital of 
bosl, to create a buffer for any unknown additional risk.  the 
board also agreed on reorganization and deployment of resources 
as required to strengthen capacity in key areas including credit 
risk management and debt recovery.  although ecfh approved 
its last strategic plan at the end of 2011, given the environment for 
operations	and	the	past	financial	performance	of	the	Group,	it	was	
deemed critical to revisit the group’s overall strategy early in 2014. 
To	this	end,	the	Board	and	Executives	of	the	Group	will	engage	in	
strategic	planning	sessions	in	the	first	quarter	of	2014.		There	are	
undoubtedly some hard decisions to be made to achieve the full 
turnaround	of	the	organization.	We	expect	to	emerge	with	a	clear	
and	 unified	 vision	 for	 the	 future	 of	 the	Group	 that	 will	 enhance	
shareholder value and support the sustainability and growth of the 
group over the long term.

Acknowledgements  
The	 past	 year	 has	 been	 extremely	 challenging	 for	 the	 Group,	
given	 the	 pressure	 of	 the	 continued	 recession	 on	 the	 financial	
performance, the introduction of the new branch model, staff 
rationalization and the resulting long period of uncertainty.  i wish 
to most sincerely thank management and staff for their patience 
and understanding as well as their commitment to the group 
throughout this trying period.  we have embarked on a period of 
unprecedented change and we thank you our shareholders for 
your continued support.  the turnaround in bosl has begun and 
will	steer	us	towards	an	efficient	and	profitable	organization	in	the	
long run. 

finally i wish to thank the board of directors of ecfh and the 
subsidiary boards for their contribution in these challenging times. 
all directors have risen to the occasion and have given of their time 
and	talent	beyond	expectation.
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“vision and steady positioning guide the course.”

liSle chaSe
chairman 

Lisle Chase
Chairman of ECFH Group
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the board of directors of the east caribbean financial holding 
company limited is responsible for the governance of the group, 
and is committed to adhering to the highest standards of corpo-
rate governance. it is guided by a formal corporate governance 
policy.  

the board comprises appointed and elected directors who gov-
ern the affairs of the group.  it reviews the group’s strategies, 
financial	objectives,	operating	plans	and	plans	 for	management	
succession. the board meets every month and other meetings 
are held as necessary. 

the board provides leadership of the group within a framework of 
sound corporate governance practices, prudent and effective con-
trols that facilitate risk assessment and management. it sets the 
group’s strategic goals and objectives.  the board establishes 
the company’s values and ensures that its obligations to share-
holders and other stakeholders are understood and met. all direc-
tors must take decisions objectively in the interest of the company.

there is a clear delineation of responsibilities between the run-
ning	of	the	Board	and	the	executive	responsibility	for	the	running	
of the group.  No one individual has unrestricted powers of deci-
sion making. the roles of chairman and group Managing director 
cannot	be	exercised	by	the	same	individual.		To	facilitate	account-
ability and transparency, no one individual or group of individuals 
dominates the decision making process. 

the board comprises eleven members, ten of whom are elected 
or appointed by the holders of ordinary shares and the group 
Managing	Director	who	is	an	Executive	Director.		Collectively,	the	
members of the board must demonstrate a balance of skills and 
experience	appropriate	for	the	requirements	of	the	business.

Subsidiary Boards
the ecfh board must be aware of all material risks and other 
issues that may ultimately affect the group.  some of these risks 
may	originate	in	subsidiaries;	however	it	is	necessary	that	the	par-
ent	board	be	able	to	exercise	adequate	oversight	over	the	activi-
ties of the subsidiaries.
•	 Except	 for	 the	Group	Chairman	and	Group	Managing	Di-

rector, no director shall hold more than three directorships 
within the group.

•	 Except	 in	exceptional	circumstances,	the	chairmanship	of	
subsidiaries will be held by a member of the ecfh board.

•	 Non-executive	directors	should	always	constitute	a	majority	
of the boards of subsidiaries and no subsidiary shall take a 
Board	decision	where	the	majority	in	a	quorum	is	of	execu-
tive directors.

•	 The	 Board	 shall	 ensure	 that	 adequate	 risk	management	
procedures are in place to identify, assess and monitor risk 
activities and to provide the desired balance between risk 
acceptance and returns.  the ecfh risk Management 
committee of the board has overall accountability for risk 
of all subsidiaries. the committee meets at least quarterly 
and reports to the board quarterly.

committees of the board 
in an effort to effectively allocate tasks and responsibilities at the 
board level, the board has established committees with clearly 
defined	objectives,	authorities,	responsibilities	and	tenure.			These	
committees may serve the boards of subsidiary companies.  the 
board shall not delegate matters requiring special approvals to 
any of its committees
.
committees consist mainly independent directors and meet at 
least three times a year or when the need may arise.  the com-
mittees are as follows:

audit committee
this committee is responsible for providing oversight of the com-
pany’s operations, in particular: 
•	 The	quality	and	integrity	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	

group

•	 The	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 systems	 of	 internal	 control	 over	
financial	reporting

•	 The	internal	and	external	audit	processes,	the	Group’s	pro-
cesses for monitoring compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations, risk management processes and the code of 
conduct.  

The	Committee	 also	 reviews	 significant	 accounting	 and	 report-
ing	issues;	including	critical	accounting	estimates	and	judgments	
used in applying accounting principles as well as the treatment of 
complex	or	unusual	transactions	and	understand	their	impact	on	
the	financial	statements.	

it also considers the effectiveness of the group’s systems of in-
ternal controls including information technology controls and its 
impact	over	annual	and	interim	financial	reporting.			

Risk Management Committee
the purpose of the board’s risk Management committee is to 
assist	the	ECFH	board	to	oversee	the	risk	profile	and	approve	the	
risk management framework of ecfh and its subsidiaries within 
the	context	of	the	strategy	determined	by	the	Board.		
the committee will: 

•	 review		and		monitor		aggregate		risk		levels		in		the		busi-
ness  and  the  quality  of  risk mitigation and control for all 
areas of risk to the business 

•	 make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	areas	for	improve-
ment management and mitigation of risk 

•	 appraise	the	Board	of	progress	 in	 implementing	 improve-
ments mitigation and actions.

the membership of the committees is as follows:

governance committee
This	Committee	assists	 the	Board	 in	 fulfilling	 its	 responsibilities	
in	providing	for	qualified	board	succession	and	for	promoting	the	
integrity of the company through the establishment of appropriate 
corporate governance principles. 

human resources committee
this committee is responsible for approving staff compensation, 
staff policies, and appointment of senior Management and is also 
responsible for Management succession planning.  the commit-
tee is also responsible for reviewing the staff structure, thereby 
ensuring	that	the	right	skills	exist	for	the	jobs	within	the	Group.

Marketing and Communications Committee
this is a committee of the board and its goal is to assist in cre-
ating and overseeing the development and implementation of 
marketing and communications strategies for the group, and to 
ensure strong and consistent brand recognition and messaging 
to all stakeholders in support of the overall strategic objectives/ 
mandate of the group.

COrPOrate 
gOVernanCe

committee memberS

audit omar davis – chairman
Lisle	Chase;	Keigan	Cox;	Lennox	Timm;

Risk Management terrence farrell – chairman
Lennox	Timm;	Keigan	Cox;	Reginald	
darius

governance reginald darius – chairman 
Jacqueline	Quamina;	Omar	Davis;	
Terrence	Farrell;	Jacqueline	Emmanuel-
flood

human resource Hildreth	Alexander–	Chairman
Lisle	Chase;	Jacqueline	Emmanuel-	Flood;	
esther brown - weekes

Marketing and 
communications 

Keigan	Cox	–	Chairman
	Hildreth	Alexander;	Lisle	Chase;	Jac-
queline	Emmanuel-Flood;	Esther	Brown	
- weekes
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terrence farrell 
director  (left)

liSle chaSe    
chairman (center)

hildreth alexander 
director (right)

lennOx timm director 

(extreme right)

Jacqueline 
emmanuel-flOOd 

director (left)

Jacqueline quamina 
director (center)

reginald dariuS 
director (right)

Omar daviS 
director (left)

keigan cOx 
director  (center)

eSther brOwn
-weekeS    
director (right)
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direCtOrs 

Lisle Chase  Chairman
profession : accountant
Qualification	 :	 FCCA,	CA
substantive position : ceo- financial centre   
  corporation 
board Member since : June 2008
appointed by  : ordinary shareholders
Nationality : saint lucian

Hildreth Alexander 
profession : Management
Qualification	 :	 MBA	–	Marketing,		 	
  accredited director and   
  Member - icsa
substantive position : director - st. lucia   
  employers federation
board Member since : July 1997
elected by : ordinary shareholders
Nationality : saint lucian

Reginald Darius
profession : economist
Qualification	 :	 MBA,	PhD.
substantive position : permanent secretary,   
  Ministry of finance/   
  director of finance 
board Member since : september 2012
appointed by : government of st. lucia
Nationality : saint lucian

Keigan Cox
profession : Management
Qualification	 :	 BA,	MBA,	Accredited		 	
  director and Member -   
  icsa
substantive position : head of business   
  development
  digicel oecs 
board Member since : august 2012
appointed by  : National insurance   
  corporation
Nationality : saint lucian

Lennox Timm
profession : accountant
Qualification	 :	 FCCA,	MAAT	
substantive position : financial controller,
  National insurance   
  services, svg
board Member since : february 2011
appointed by : oecs bank group
Nationality : vincentian

Jacqueline Quamina
profession : attorney at law
Qualification	 :	 LLB,	MA,	MBA
substantive position : group general counsel/   
  corporate secretary,   
  republic bank limited
board Member since : March 2004
appointed by  : republic bank of trinidad
  & tobago limited
Nationality : trinidadian

Terrence Farrell
profession : economist
Qualification	 :	 Ph.D,	M.Sc,	B.Sc	-		 	
  economics
substantive position : consultant – business   
  development, finance &   
  economics
board Member since : february 2011
appointed by  : republic bank of trinidad   
  & tobago limited
Nationality : trinidadian

Jacqueline Emmanuel-Flood
profession : director
Qualification	 :	 BSc.	MSc.	Accredited		 	
  director and Member -   
  icsa
substantive position : Managing director
board Member since : May 2012
appointed by  : ordinary shareholders
Nationality : st. lucian

Omar Davis
profession : consultant
Qualification	 :	 ACCA,	Accredited	Director		
  and Member - icsa
substantive position : financial & Management   
  consultant
board Member since : May 2012
appointed by  : ordinary shareholders
Nationality : vincentian/st lucian

Esther Brown-Weekes
profession : banking and finance
Qualification	 :	 MSc.	Finance,	Accredited			
  director and Member -   
  icsa 
substantive position : group Managing director -  
  acting
board Member since : december 2012
Nationality : st lucian
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the directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the 
financial year ended december 31, 2013.

directors
in accordance with section 4.4 of the bye laws, director lisle 
chase retires from the board and being eligible offers himself for 
re-election for a further three year term.

directors’ interest
The	 interests	 of	 the	 Directors	 holding	 office	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	
company’s financial year  2013 in the ordinary shares of the 
company were as follows:-

Director Beneficial Interest 

esther brown–weekes  4,179
omar davis 3,530
Jacqueline Quamina  2,500
Jacqueline emmanuel–flood 1,150
Hildreth	Alexander	 200																																									
david lisle chase Nil
Keigan	Cox	 Nil
Lennox	Timm	 Nil
reginald darius Nil                      
terrence farrell Nil

there has been no change in these interests occurring between 
the end of the company’s financial year and one month prior to 
the date of the Notice convening the annual Meeting.

at no time during or at the end of the financial year has 
any director had any material interests in any contract or 
arrangement in relation to the business of the company or any 
of its subsidiaries.

Substantial Interests in Share Capital as at December 31, 
2013

preference Shares: 
National Insurance Corporation – 100% of the issued and 
outstanding shares totaling 830,000

Ordinary Shares:
Government of Saint Lucia   20%
Republic Bank Limited 20%
National Insurance Corporation 17%

Shareholders Relations
the shares of the east caribbean financial holding company 
limited (ecfh) have been listed on the eastern caribbean 
Securities	Exchange	(ECSE)	from	October19,	2001.		As	a	result,	
all	shares	are	traded	on	the	exchange,	and	records	maintained	
by the ecse in accordance with the regulations. a total of twelve 
thousand five hundred and twenty-nine (12,529) shares were 
traded	at	an	average	price	of	$7.93	per	share	during	the	2013	
financial	year.

as the issuer of the shares, the ecfh has the responsibility 
to ensure that all necessary information is communicated to 
shareholders on a timely basis and that dividends are paid in 
accordance with the dividend policy approved by the board of 
directors.

during the year, directors approved and granted two new 
secondary school scholarships to children of shareholders 
residing in st. lucia.  the total number of scholarships granted to 
date is ten (10).  the scholarships are awarded annually on the 
basis of the students obtaining highest scores at the common 
Entrance	Examinations.

auditOrs
the auditors, ernst & young retire and offer themselves for re-
appointment. the directors have agreed that a resolution for 
their re-appointment as auditors of the company for the ensuing 
year will be proposed at the annual Meeting.

In	 accordance	 with	 Section	 162	 (i)	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act,	
Cap.13.01,	the	term	of	the	appointment	will	extend	from	the	close	
of	the	One	Annual	Meeting	until	the	next	Annual	Meeting	of	the	
company.
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resPOnsibiLity

being a good corporate citizen does not only entail supporting 
organizations, but more importantly it is about “enriching lives,” 
positively impacting the socio-economic landscape of st. lucia, 
and contributing to the betterment of the communities in which 
we operate. 

for the 2013 period under review, the group continued to develop, 
expand	 and	 improve	 various	 programs	 and	 initiatives	 -	 that	
promote holistic youth development and mentorship, community 
development,	financial	literacy,	environmental	sustainability	and	
charitable giving. 

the group laid the groundwork in 2013 for a number of initiatives 
specifically	 targeted	at	our	youth,	which	will	be	the	 impetus	for	
the future, including the bosl Mad about Math competition and 
the rethiNK: bosl recycle challenge. other major support 
initiatives included the provision of bursaries, scholarships, 
the support of sports and social and environmental clubs & 
associations;	 and	 the	 provision	 of	 financial	 assistance	 to	 local	
arts, cultural and educational programmes. the group remains 
committed to positively impacting our communities by enriching 
lives and living the mantra that “to do well one Must do good.”

[1] over 10,000 lives directly affected by initiatives, however reach is far greater as a result of the community and economic spin offs, 
and further the fact that supported programmes are vastly at a national level.  e.g. sporting initiatives have opened countless doors 
for	youth	development	further	afield.

1. 2.

3.

135
Total Number of

INITIATIVES  Supported 

10,000[1]
OVER

LIVES...
Benefitted

directly.

Education Development Community Development
Environmental Awareness Sports
Cultural Development Financial Literacy

%

Total CSR Financial Support
EC$480,000

expenditure: January - december 2013
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area

A. EDUCATIONAL
develOpment  

percentage

27% ($127k)

maJOr initiative

i. special project: ict development in schools – RC Boys Infant School Media Centre
ii. covenants with 2nd chance & youth development institutions – care 
iii. bosl Mad about Math competition 
iv. remedial reading programmes  – Grow Well Inc
v. scholarship programme: children of shareholders & staff 
vi. annual schools’ graduation & awards ceremonies 
vii. educational trips & spelling bee activities 

B. COMMUNITy 
develOpment   
 

C. ENVIRONMENTAL 
awareneSS 

15% ($73k)

8% ($39k)

i. covenants with social welfare institutions – Holy Family Children’s Home
ii. donations to community organisations – National Community Foundation 
iii. programmes for the elderly & youth at risk
 – Senior Citizens Homes & Training Centres
iv. programmes for differently abled
v. adolescent & general health & wellness programmes 
vi. National & international observances 
vii. youth summer programmes & youth awards
viii. various organizational staff awards 
ix.	 Fundraising	Activities	for	Charitable	Groups

i. covenants with youth environmental programme – Slnt youth environment forum
ii. youth environment programmes – CyEN Green Future Day Camp
iii. schools environment competition –  RETHINK: BOSL Recycle Challenge 
iv. Maintenance of green areas 
v. environmental tv programming 

D. SPORTS 

E. CULTURAL 
develOpment 

F. FINANCIAL 
literacy  

11% ($54k)

9% ($44k)

30% ($143k)

i. National schools’ athletics competition
ii. community sports teams  & competitions
iii. support of local athletes
iv. title sponsorship - sporting leagues
 – BOSL T20, ECFH/Lucelec youth Football League
v. youth sports development – bOSl mini hoops
vi. support of international sporting tournaments
 – Norceca, Olympic youth Beach Volleyball Qualifiers
vii. youth summer tournaments – Tennis, Netball & Volleyball 
viii. individual school sports Meets 

i. ecfh young Mentors Music programmes – St. Lucia School of Music (3yr Covenant)
ii. Major arts & cultural festivals 
 1. National arts festival
 2. st. lucia carnival 2013 
 3. Jazz & arts festival 
iii. youth art education programmes – School of Art & Design St. Lucia (SADS)
iv. community art & craft festivals
v. National observances
 1. creole heritage Month
 2. Nobel laureate week
vi. local Musical works
 1. charles cadet – la fin Journee

i. financial literacy & csr programmes 
 1. Money talks 
 2. savings & investment outreach presentations
 3. career showcases 
ii. support of youth entrepreneurship 
 1. global entrepreneurship week
 2. st. lucia youth business trust 
 3. Junior achievement st. lucia
iii. st. lucia chamber of commerce 
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elizabeth bOuSquet
Manager ecFh property division 

gOrdOn cOchrane
group Financial controller

meliSSa SimOn
senior Manager internal audit

baldwin taylOr
senior Manager customer insight unit 

eStherlita cumberbatch
corporate secretary

maria fOwell
senior Manager, Marketing & corporate 

communications 

eSther brOwn-weekeS 
group Managing director (ag)

lyndOn arnOld 
senior Manager, information 

Management and technology services

victOr pOyOtte
senior Manager human resource 

Management

dOnna matthew
senior Manager, risk Management & 

compliance

eCfh 
ManageMent

“all hands on deck, working together 
to ensure stability and viability oF our 
institution.”
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seniOr ManageMent

Esther Brown-Weekes
Msc finance - gMd (ag)

Gordon Cochrane
ba, ca – group financial controller

Donna Matthew
Mba – senior Manager risk Management & compliance

Victor Poyotte
Msc public administration – senior Manager human resource Management

Estherlita Cumberbatch
acis, llb – corporate secretary

Melissa Simon
fcca, cfsa, cfe – senior Manager internal audit

Elizabeth Bousquet
Msc construction Management – Manager ecfh property division

Maria Fowell
Msc Marketing – senior Manager Marketing & corporate communication

Lyndon Arnold
Mba – senior Manager information Management and technology services

Baldwin Taylor
Mba – senior Manager customer insight unit
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Overview
2013 remained a very 
demanding year for the 
ecfh group, operating 
in a very tight market 
environment and sluggish 
economic conditions.   
Much focus was placed on 
recovery and stabilization 
from the previous year’s 
losses.  bosl remained 
challenged;	 however	 the	
other subsidiaries of the 
group continued to perform 
well and contributed to the 
overall performance to return 
the	 Group	 to	 profitability	 in	
2013.

although there were signs of a sustained improvement in 
economic	 growth	 internationally,	 the	 benefits	 have	 not	 yet	
filtered	 through	 locally	 and	 some	 of	 the	 challenges	 remained	
as	experienced	in	the	previous	year.	A	number	of	our	domestic	
banking	customers	continue	to	experience	some	level	of	difficulty	
in meeting their commitments and the pressure on bank of st. 
Lucia’s	 loan	portfolio	remains	the	most	significant	 issue	for	 the	
group.

The	most	 significant	 areas	 of	 credit	 risk	 continue	 to	 be	within	
the larger corporate credit accounts, particularly in the tourism 
sector.   the retail and mortgage loan portfolios have performed 
better over the period. bank of st. vincent and the grenadines, 
which	is	less	exposed	to	the	larger	credits,	and	Bank	of	St.	Lucia	
International,	have	maintained	steady	profits	compared	with	the	
previous year.

	Significant	organizational	changes	were	implemented	in	an	effort	
to strengthen management capacity and refocus the operations on 
optimizing	resources	and	improving	risk	management;	particularly	
in the area of credit risk. the strategies employed were geared 
towards strengthening our capital position, managing the risk 
weighted assets on the balance sheet and lowering our overall 
cost base.   the group’s banking subsidiaries remain capitalized 
at	levels	in	excess	of	their	regulatory	requirements	with	a	“buffer”	
to safeguard against future shocks.   of the highest priority for 
the group is to ensure that its largest subsidiary, bosl maintains 
adequate	capital,	given	its	own	risk	profile.

Liquidity	remained	strong	throughout	the	year,	reflecting	market	
conditions. good cash management and the investment portfolio 
diversification	strategy	ensured	that	the	impact	of	any	shocks	in	
the	securities	markets	would	be	minimized.	 	Excess	 liquidity	 is	
invested safely.

Group Financial Analysis
The	 Group	 made	 a	 profit	 before	 tax	 and	 minority	 interest	 of	
$5.8M	in	2013,	a	significant	improvement	over	the	large	losses	
of	2012.	Total	Assets	grew	 from	$3.4billion	 in	December	2012	
to	$3.7billion	 in	December	2013	and	Net	Equity	attributable	 to	
shareholders	was	reported	at	$210.6M.

bank of st. lucia made allowance for additional impairment 
on some of its larger corporate loans, continuing the prudent 
approach and strict adherence to international accounting 
standards.		The	Bank	reported	a	loss	of	$8.8M,	compared	to	last	
year’s	loss	of	$122.8M.	Total	Assets	remained	stable,	reflecting	
limited growth prospects in the current market conditions.  Much 
of	 management’s	 focus	 was	 on	 creating	 the	 most	 efficient	
structure to ensure the future sustainability of the business. this 
required	 continued	 improvement	 in	 operational	 efficiency	 and	
further	development	and	refinement	of	the	branch	transformation	
model embarked upon during the year.

Bank	 of	 St	 Vincent	 and	 the	 Grenadines	 increased	 its	 pre-tax	
profit	 by	 32%	 to	 $9M,	with	 the	 third	 consecutive	 year	 of	 profit	
growth since the acquisition. Market conditions are similar to st. 
lucia but credit risk is lower in the credit portfolio with much less 
concentration in large corporate loans and customer payment 
patterns tend to be much more stable. the bank’s balance sheet 
grew	by	5%	to	$834M	and	the	continued	prudent	management	of	
the	business	is	expected	to	ensure	a	continuation	of	this	pattern.

bank of st lucia international also had another successful year. 
The	 Balance	 Sheet	 grew	 by	 approximately	 50%	 to	 US$372M	
and	 profit	was	 recorded	 at	US$2.7M.	 It	 is	 anticipated	 that	 the	
asset	 growth	 will	 result	 in	 increased	 profitability	 in	 the	 short	
to medium term. Management is now focused on putting the 
infrastructure and strategies in place to ensure that this objective 
is accomplished.   

ecfh global investment solutions, the group’s brokerage 
subsidiary	had	an	excellent	year,	with	profits	growing	by	65%	to	
$1.2M.	The	company	was	able	to	build	on	its	strong	reputation	for	
professional and reliable service in the region to report impressive 
growth in fee and commission income during the year.
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disCussiOn
& anaLysis 

“a steady hand at the helM sailing through 
winds oF opportunity.”

eSther brOwn-weekeS
group Managing director (ag)
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Liquidity and Investments
the group and all of its banking subsidiaries maintained a 
very comfortable level of liquidity, driven by a strong growth in 
deposits. the domestic banks have operated with cash balances 
well	in	excess	of	regulatory	requirements.	

investment of surplus funds, in what has continued to be a low 
interest	 rate	 environment	 internationally	 remains	 difficult.	 The	
strategy	is	to	ensure	capital	preservation	and	maximize	levels	of	
diversification	and	this	objective	has	been	met	through	the	use	
of	a	range	of	asset	managers,	well	qualified	to	interpret	market	
trends and effectively represent the group’s investment policy. 
The	 diversification	 strategy	 has	 been	 adopted	 for	 international	
and regional investments alike.

investment of surplus funds in international markets, whilst being 
a	prudent	business	approach,	also	exposes	the	Group	to	some	
inevitable volatility in these markets. gains and losses in these 
investments	are	reported	through	the	Group’s	Profits	only	once	
realized 

business Structure 
the group operated with a more consolidated structure in 
2013.  the rationalization of the group’s structure, which led 
to the amalgamation of the Mortgage finance company and 
the property development company in 2012, remains a key 
objective.	 	 Greater	 efficiency	 is	 possible	 through	 simplification	
of the structure and this, together with close scrutiny through 
more effective governance and management will materialize 
into	 greater	 benefits	 for	 improvement	 in	 the	 Group’s	 financial	
performance.  during the year, the board recruited a general 
Manager for bosl, to ensure effective separation of duties 
from the group Managing director and for better focus on the 
operations of bosl. the assignment took effect from october 
2013	and	it	is	anticipated	that	positive	benefits	will	be	realized	for	
bosl and ecfh by 2014.  
  
in 2014, we will make some substantive changes with respect 
to our insurance business. the majority shareholding interest 
in ec global insurance company limited will be divested and 
a minority interest of 20% shareholding will be retained. the 
purpose of this move is to streamline the business of the group to 
focus on the core banking business.  changes in the structure of 
the	Group	will	ensure	that	the	existing	challenges	are	addressed	
to reposition our operations and remain competitive in respective 
markets.  it is also necessary that the organizational structure 
optimizes and supports productivity and during 2014, we will 
embark on a project to streamline our internal processes to 
improve	efficiency	and	create	an	environment	that	will	generate	
excellence	in	performance.	

Human Resource & Organization Culture
in 2013, we took a critical look at the issues confronting the 
Group,	 including	 level	 of	 efficiency	 and	 administrative	 cost	
and recognized the need to rationalize operations in certain 
areas.  this was also strategic to the turnaround of the 
operations.	 	 	 The	 resultant	 retrenchment	 process	 was	 difficult	
but became necessary for the implementation of the new branch 
transformation model to become more customer-centric. it was 
also	necessary	to	improve	the	financial	viability	and	protect	the	
sustainability of the group in the medium term.   in order to soften 
the impact on staff, a voluntary separation program was instituted 
and several employees took advantage of this opportunity.   

i would like to thank all those employees for their contribution to 
the organization over their years of employment with the group. 

the attraction, retention and continuous development of staff is 
still critical to the business strategy of the group. our intention 
is to ensure that our human resource practices support the 
development	of	the	skills	required	to	fulfil	the	Group’s	objectives.		
In	this	regard,	an	experienced	senior	manager	was	recruited	for	
the debt recoveries department.  corporate credit and credit 
risk Management departments were also restructured with new 
personnel and reviewed processes for operations. also critical 
to that process will be leadership development, performance 
management, talent management, coaching and mentoring, 
training and development and appropriate recruitment. with the 
need to be more accountable at all levels, stricter emphasis will be 
placed on performance measurement. in 2013 we commenced 
the process of developing a performance based management 
system geared to improve productivity levels and ultimately 
provide enhanced customer service delivery throughout the 
organization.  the system should be fully functional in 2014.

the group operates in an environment that is constantly changing 
and we cannot be oblivious to those dynamics. adjustments to 
the culture of the organization have commenced and change in 
thinking and approach is required by both management and staff.  
we commend all who have embraced the changes and hope that 
others can be lead and encouraged to embrace the   new vision 
for the group.
We	 recognize	 that	 the	 past	 year	 has	 been	 particularly	 difficult	
for staff, given the dynamic demands.  however, with greater 
stability in the organization we anticipate that a more favorable 
and motivating work environment will be created.

Looking Ahead
The	 experiences	 of	 recent	 years	 have	 been	 the	 catalyst	 for	
significant	organizational	and	strategic	changes	within	ECFH.	As	
these	changes	crystalize,	we	are	confident	that	the	results	can	
only strengthen the group. we are positioning the group to take 
full advantage of the growth opportunities that will inevitably arise 
as the economy recovers. in so doing, we commit to promoting 
a sense of personal accountability in our employees while 
fostering a culture of integrity and compliance. we will continue 
to implement systems to support continuous improvement in the 
quality of   customer service.  with a responsible approach to 
business, we will also ensure that the needs of all stakeholders, 
particularly you our shareholders, are met. 

i would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff for their 
commitment throughout this past year.  with all hands in deck, 
we will overcome the challenges to enable us to sail safely 
through calmer waters toward the shore. 

Esther Brown-Weekes
Group Managing Director (Ag)
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in 2013 the group placed major focus on maintaining a culture of 
prudent risk management as an integral part of the decision making 
process. this involved identifying potential risks associated with 
business activities as early as possible, assessing the possible 
consequences and implementing suitable measures to mitigate 
against	 adverse	 outcome.	 	 With	 the	 exception	 of	 Credit	 risk	
assessed as high, the level of risk in other categories can be 
generally assessed as medium. 

the board of directors and Management are very conscious of 
the need for a comprehensive approach to risk Management. 
during the year a risk Management committee of the board was 
established to provide oversight over all areas of risk within the 
group.  an enterprise wide risk register is being developed to 
identify all possible group risks and facilitate the development of 
mitigating strategies.

Credit Risk
credit risk is the most critical category of risk for the group.  
The	 financial	 performance	 of	 the	Group	 in	 the	 past	 few	 years	
was impacted by high credit risk, in particular within bosl. a 
renewed focus was placed on detailed and informed assessment 
of lending opportunities to ensure that future growth in the banks’ 
loan	portfolios	can	be	achieved	without	taking	on	excessive	risk.

a comprehensive credit risk review was undertaken in 2013 
and management is in the process of implementing new credit 
structures, policies and processes for both bank of saint lucia 
and	Bank	of	St.	Vincent	&	the	Grenadines.		The	following	specific	
initiatives were implemented in 2013:
•	 Restructure	corporate	lending	and	credit	risk	departments	
•	 Processes	 revisited	 to	 minimize	 risk	 at	 the	 underwriting	

stage
•	 Revision	of		approval	processes	for	all	credits
•	 Revision	of	limits	to	ensure	lending	to	individual	companies	

is in accordance with strict limits based on the banks’ 
capital

•	 Financial	 impact	 analysis	 in	 all	 cases	 where	 customer	
terms are amended

•	 Implementation	of	a	sales	culture	 in	 the	 retail	operations	
– but blended with sensible risk management  controls to 
ensure	 that	 the	 credit	 risk	 is	 taken	within	 clearly	 defined	
limits 

•	 Continued	 training	 and	 coaching	 in	 	 credit	 underwriting,	
credit administration and credit risk management   

•	 Strengthening	of	resources	in	the	recoveries	function	and	
implementation of improved loan recovery procedures 
and	disciplines,	designed	to	ensure	maximum	recoveries	
on stressed loans and minimization of the growth in non-
performing loans

Arrangements	 to	 reduce	 the	 large	 credit	 exposures	 were	
implemented particularly for nonproductive and stressed 
accounts. companies with large nonproductive credits were 
placed in receiverships where necessary while emphasis was 
placed on debt recoveries and work outs. the tourism sector has 
presented the largest area of credit risk to the group which has 
led to a review of sector limits to manage concentration risk to 
adopt a lower risk tolerance with respect to impact on capital.  
There	 was	 also	 closer	 monitoring	 of	 large	 exposures,	 sector	
concentrations, performance trends and key benchmarks within 
the loan portfolio.

Liquidity and Market Risk
the group’s liquidity risk is monitored by the asset/ liability 
committee (alco).  liquidity management is always given strict 
attention to ensure that all scheduled obligations are met.  during 
the year, the banking subsidiaries consistently met the regulatory 
reserve requirements.  the banking subsidiaries generally 
experienced	 excess	 liquidity	 with	 the	 decreased	 demand	 for	
loans and reduced supply of quality investment opportunities.   

the group has centralized governance oversight over issues 
related to investments for all subsidiaries. New investment 
proposals are subjected to appropriate risk analysis to ensure 
that only good quality investments in line with the respective 
investment policies are booked.  volatility in the investment 
portfolio is monitored on an ongoing basis, both internally and by 
external	investment	managers.	

For	the	review	period,	foreign	exchange	risk	was	considered	to	
be moderate and the group was able to adequately manage its 
Foreign	Exchange	exposures.		

Operational Risk
the group has a comprehensive business continuity 
management program which is supported by business continuity 
planning software.  ecfh takes the safety of its employee’s very 
seriously and annually emergency evacuation drills are held at 
all locations in addition to the testing of the business continuity 
plans.       

Compliance Risk
the ecfh group endeavors to comply with all legislative and 
regulatory	 requirements	 to	 prevent	 the	 imposition	 of	 fines/	
penalties that can impact earnings and shareholder value.

there is always a strong focus on anti-Money laundering (aMl) 
/counter financing of terrorism (cft) compliance throughout 
the group.   during the year, work commenced on the vendor 
selection for an aMl solution that will meet the needs of the 
banking	subsidiaries.		It	is	expected	that	the	chosen	solution	will	
be implemented during 2014.



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 2013 23n

setting 
a new 
COurse 
fOr a 
brighter
day

efficiency 

	 Efficiency	Ratio	without	Provision

	 Efficiency	Ratio	with	Provision
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 non-performing loans
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 capital adequacy
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riSk management

 largest loan/total loans
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               (200,900)
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72.0%

8.5%

9.2%

13.0%

31.3%

 

 

4.1%

9.9%

17.5%

1.6%

3.2%

6.5%

2013

71.0%

97.0%

6,120

(0.04%)

-

-

28.4%

42.0%

7.7%

8.2%

12.0%

28.1%

3.8%

9.9%

12.9%

0.8%

2.2%

5.3%

2011

 

69.6%

94.7%

             12,450 

 

 

1.5%

0.2%

41.3%

 

 

12.0%

 

 

29.7%

 

16.2%

17.6%

19.3%

18.8%

 

 

4.1%

9.8%

18.5%

2.3%

3.9%

6.7%

2010

 

64.9%

93.7%

          20,345 

 

 

2.6%

0.3%

77.1%

 

 

8.3%

 

 

30.0%

 

15.4%

16.8%

18.4%

18.8%

 

 

4.1%

10.2%

18.8%

1.4%

2.1%

4.0%

2009

 

58.7%

63.9%

									55,306	

 

 

7.6%

1.2%

46.7%

 

 

7.0%

 

 

24.8%

 

22.8%

26.9%

19.4%

19.5%

 

 

5.0%

12.3%

35.7%

2.7%

4.0%

7.0%

histOriCaL 
finanCiaL ratiOs
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banK Of saint LuCia

Octavian charleS
bridge street branch Manager 
dOnna hinkSOn
waterfront branch Manager 
arleta rate-mitchel
soufriere branch Manager

JOanna charleS
assistant gM

vincent bOland
senior Manager debt recoveries

beverly henry
senior Manager credit risk

bradley felix
senior Manager corporate banking
medfOrd franciS
senior Manager wealth & asset Management
cecilia ferdinand-lacOrbinere
senior Manager loans administration

 

hadyn gittenS
general Manager

cOrneliuS SidOnie
gros islet branch Manager 
cynthia laurent
senior Manager operations 
martina dOrnelly
vieux Fort branch Manager

eCfh 
subsidiaries

“every division playing its role to drive 
the ship oF progress Forward.”
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baNK of saiNt lucia liMited

board of directors 
Hildreth	Alexander	-	Chairman
llewelyn gill
gloria anthony
Jacequeline emmanuel-flood
esther brown-weekes
hadyn gittens

Profile of Senior Management  

Hadyn Gittens
Msc accounting – Mba – gM

Joanna Charles
acib, Mba – assistant general Manager

Vincent Boland
aicb – senior Manager debt recoveries

Beverly Henry
Mba financial Management – senior Manager credit risk

Bradley Felix
professional diploma in banking  – senior Manager corporate banking

Cynthia Laurent
professional diploma in banking – senior Manager operations

Medford Francis
Msc. finance – senior Manager wealth & asset Management

Cecilia Ferdinand-LaCorbinere
Mba – senior Manager credit administration

Octavian Charles
MSc	Agricultural	Extension	&	Management	Systems	–	Bridge	Street	Branch	Manager

Cornelius Sidonie
Msc financial Management – gros islet branch Manager 

Donna Hinkson
ba in business – waterfront branch Manager

Arleta Rate-Mitchel
aicb– soufriere branch Manager

Martina Dornelly
Executive	Diploma	in	Banking	–	Vieux	Fort	Branch	Manager
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bank Of Saint lucia limited

stateMent Of finanCiaL POsitiOnBank of Saint Lucia Limited 
Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2013 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
 

 
 

 
2013 

$ 

Restated 
2012 

$ 

Restated as at 
January 1 

2012 
$ 

Assets    
    
Cash and balances with Central Bank  103,558,888 137,605,220 101,078,541 
Deposits with other banks  103,522,370 42,324,874 50,838,321 
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions  1,604,642 1,340,491 478,861 
Financial assets held for trading  16,309,740 26,431,309 3,912,845 
Loans and receivables  - loans and advances to 

customers  1,314,422,488 1,305,090,714 1,132,660,593 
                                           - bonds – – 2,566,111 
Investment securities    208,664,856 254,789,240 231,550,450 
Financial instruments-pledged assets  41,073,566 53,710,638 96,951,468 
Due from related parties  51,967,509 80,506,864 263,941,533 
Property and equipment  17,789,372 8,544,190 8,118,650 
Other assets  33,396,840 37,212,906 34,624,781 
Deferred tax asset  9,023,532 9,023,532 2,719,431 
Income tax recoverable 3,281,339 3,281,339 8,994,203 
    
Total assets 1,904,615,142 1,959,861,317 1,938,435,788 
    
Liabilities    
    
Deposits from banks  73,198,660 71,201,639 53,672,390 
Due to customers  1,524,084,076 1,562,153,160 1,429,480,830 
Repurchase agreements  26,328,140 28,917,965 59,654,716 
Borrowings  126,605,888 122,239,209 133,975,895 
Other liabilities  14,980,085 15,419,884 11,306,807 
    
Total liabilities 1,765,196,849 1,799,931,857 1,688,090,638 
    
Equity    
    
Share capital 197,718,745 197,718,745 188,918,745 
Reserves  82,105,870 82,105,870 72,314,883 
Unrealised (loss)/gain on investments (4,555,661) 7,131,867 (4,497,706) 
Accumulated deficit (135,850,661) (127,027,022) (6,390,772) 
    
Total equity 139,418,293 159,929,460 250,345,150 
    
    
Total liabilities and equity 1,904,615,142 1,959,861,317 1,938,435,788 
 

aS Of 31 december 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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bank Of Saint lucia limited

fOr the year ended 31 december 2013(expressed in Eastern 
Caribbean dollars)

stateMent Of COMPrehensiVe 
inCOMe
Bank of Saint Lucia Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
 

 

 

  
2013 

$  
2012 

$ 
     

Interest income   114,009,257  119,528,636 
     
Interest expense   (59,394,289)  (59,146,653) 
     
Net interest income  54,614,968  60,381,983 
     
Fee and commission income   20,316,102  17,887,184 
     
Dividend income   103,410  159,490 
     
Net foreign exchange trading income   8,472,572  8,175,291 
     
Other gains   13,174,045  291,260 
     
Impairment losses on investments   –  (18,120,371) 
     
Impairment losses on loans and advances   (40,378,634)  (128,449,830) 
     
Operating expenses   (65,126,102)  (63,127,505) 
     
Loss before income tax  (8,823,639)  (122,802,498) 
     
Income tax recovery   – 29,329 
     
Loss for the year  (8,823,639)  (122,773,169) 
     
     
Other comprehensive (loss)/income     
Unrealised (loss)/gain on available for sale investments net of tax  (11,687,528)  11,629,573 
     
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (20,511,167)  (111,143,596) 
 
Loss per share   (13.96)  (75.67) 
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suMMary Of finanCiaL 
PerfOrManCe

“vision, Focus and a clear plan...
the basis For every successFul journey”

Overview 
coming out of a particularly 
difficult	 year	 in	 2012,	 Bank	
of saint lucia (bosl) has 
remained totally dedicated to 
addressing and responding 
to its operational and 
environmental challenges. 
the bosl leadership team 
has diligently embarked on 
implementing a number of 
turnaround initiatives and 
we are cautiously optimistic 
that the stage has been set 
for a return to consistent and 
sustained	profitability.	

Key management changes, 
including the recruitment of a 
general Manager for bosl, 
and	 an	 experienced	 Senior	

Manager for debt recoveries were successfully implemented in 
fiscal	2013.	Other	critical	priority	areas	on	which	steady	progress	
was made included strengthening of core functional and business 
units, reorganization of the customer relationship and sales 
function	and	improving	operating	and	cost	efficiency.	

Moving forward, key performance benchmarks have been set for 
2014	and	beyond	in	order	 to	re-engineer	a	return	to	profitability	
and measured growth.  

Financial Performance Summary
BOSL	reported	a	loss	of	$8.8M,	though	a	significantly	improved	
position	over	 the	previous	year’s	 loss	of	$122.8M.	Total	Assets	
contracted by 3% mostly due to the utilization of temporary funds 
placed by bosl’s largest clients in 2012.

Strategic focus areas 
Improving Sales Proficiency and Customer Relationship 
management - our new branch sales Model was piloted in 2013 
and full implementation of this major change in how we serve 
our customers has been reasonably successful to date. this 
major	 initiative	 is	 expected	 to	 greatly	 enhance	 the	 customer	
experience	and	ensure	a	deepening	of	 the	relationship	with	our	
customers.  ongoing feedback from both customers and staff is 
vital in ensuring the continued success of this project and we have 
gratefully taken on board the valuable feedback obtained from 
surveys conducted in formulating our strategies going forward.

Improving Loan Portfolio quality	–	We	have	 taken	significant	
steps towards aggressively addressing our challenged loan 
portfolio as well as stemming the deteriorating trend. we have 
strengthened the leadership in this area, bringing in specialized 
and	knowledgeable	expertise.	Measures	have	been	implemented	
aimed at re-engineering our monitoring, follow-up and debt-
recovery capability and in so doing reducing delinquency levels. 
we have reinforced system controls and implemented more 
robust	performance	metrics.	We	have	established	firm	and	clear	
strategies with respect to our larger challenged credits, and have 

taken decisive and appropriate debt recovery action.

Institutional strengthening – structural reorganization of the 
corporate banking and credit risk functions is in progress with 
the	 aim	 of	 improving	 our	 underwriting	 and	 risk	 and	 exposure	
management capability and ensuring improvement in customer 
relationship Management and sales. the new business banking 
approach will call for much closer collaboration between our 
corporate banking arm and the investment bank of the group 
ecfh global investment solutions in order to offer a wider range 
of solutions to our customers.

Improving operating and cost efficiency – this will continue to 
be	a	major	area	of	emphasis	and	significant	initiatives	geared	at	
improving the bank’s performance in this area were undertaken 
in 2013. this initiative includes systematic reduction of our 
overhead burden as well as payroll overheads and reduction of 
fixed	 plant	 and	 procurement	 costs.	 We	 continued	 the	 process	
of outsourcing non-core services and divesting non-core assets 
and on the operational front we have focused heavily on more 
effective interest spread management.

2014 Outlook
the new year, 2014 will be important in the journey towards 
creating	 a	 platform	 for	 consistent	 profitability	 and	 measured	
growth. this will be achieved by the full implementation of the 
retail sales Model, the further strengthening and re-focusing of 
all core units (business and support), as well as new operating 
and	cost	efficiency	initiatives.	At	the	same	time,	there	will	be	heavy	
emphasis on increasing employee engagement through structured 
programmes and interventions throughout the year.

we have set ourselves ambitious targets for improving the 
Customer	 Experience.	 We	 have	 committed	 to	 delivering	 better	
service	through	all	our	channels	–	the	branch	network,	our	extensive	
atM and point of sale networks and our electronic/convenience 
banking	solutions.	We	continue	 to	explore	and	will	 roll	 out	other	
more convenient and enhanced banking options over time.

Performance Imperatives – 2014 and Beyond
we have established the following imperatives for the short to 
medium term: 
•	 Sustainable	growth	in	revenue	and	profitability
•	 Significant	reduction	of	the	non-performing	and	challenged	

loans to a much more manageable level.
•	 Improvement	of	 the	efficiency	ratio	 to	bring	 it	closer	 to	 the	

internationally accepted benchmark.
•	 Re-building	of	our	Capital	to	a	level	that	will	allow	us	to	more	

comfortably	weather	unexpected	developments.
•	 Enhancement	of	customer	service	delivery

Acknowledgments
finally i would like to thank our valued staff, customers and other 
stakeholders for their support and patience over the past few 
years. to the shareholders of the parent company in particular, 
we acknowledge that it has not been an easy passage but we 
are committed to continue to make the positive changes at bosl 
to bring about improved performance and enhanced shareholder 
value.

hadyn gittenS
general Manager
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banK Of saint LuCia
internatiOnaL LiMited

eCfh gLObaL inVestMents

banK Of st. VinCent 
and the grenadines

dianne auguStin – Manager

david SOOkwa – operations Manager
gwyneth taitt – legal & product   
      development Manager
ryan devaux – ceo
kim vigier – Financial controller

(From left to right)
charrOn dOS SantOS – senior human resource officer

bernard hamiltOn – Manager credit administration
cerlian ruSSel – Manager operations

derry williamS – Managing director
nandi williamS – corporate secretary

bennie StapletOn – chief Financial officer
wendell daviS – Manager information technology

eCfh 
subsidiaries
“strong, secure and perFectly designed to 
perForM beyond expectation, the power to 
positively change the course oF lives.”
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baNK of st. viNceNt & the greNadiNes liMited  

board of directors 
errol allen – chairman
andre iton
Hildreth	Alexander
Judith veira
godwin daniel
Lennox	Bowman
timothy providence
omar davis
esther brown-weekes
derry williams

Profile of Senior Management  

Derry Williams
Mba finance – Managing director

Bennie Stapleton
BSc	Accounting,	ACCA	–	Chief	Financial	Officer

Bernard Hamilton
Mba business administration – Manager credit administration

Cerlian Russel
Mba business Management administration – Manager operations

Nandi Williams
llM international trade law – corporate secretary

Wendell Davis
Msc computer information systems – Manager information technology

Charron Dos Santos
Diploma	in	General	Management	–	Senior	Human	Resource	Officer

rePOrt On 
subsidiaries 
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BANK OF ST. VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES LIMITED

aS at 31 december 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

COnsOLidated stateMent Of 
finanCiaL POsitiOn

 

 
2013 

$ 

Restated 
2012 

$ 
Assets   

 Restated as 
at Jan 1, 2012 

$ 

    
    
Cash and balances with Central Bank  63,027,459 59,258,809 45,047,725 
Treasury bills 5,981,449 4,633,348 4,643,605 
Deposits with other banks 69,426,904 42,300,299 26,609,618 
Financial assets held for trading  45,518 41,109 40,271 
Loans and receivables - loans and advances to customers  564,081,530 543,799,900 454,708,591 

                               - bonds  10,032,877 10,032,877 10,514,894 
Investment securities    51,240,589 63,805,828 82,059,224 
Property and equipment  58,639,831 59,955,388 57,436,607 
Investment property 4,331,000 4,437,000 3,809,400 
Other assets  5,084,321 3,676,364 7,586,658 
Deferred tax asset  - 549,459 1,393,897 
Income tax recoverable  2,359,150 3,112,387 3,572,397 
    
Total assets 834,250,628 795,602,768 697,422,887 
    
    
Liabilities    
    
Deferred tax liability  244,563 - - 
Deposits from banks  42,788,717 40,404,614 17,082,484 
Due to customers  589,139,473 594,989,882 543,854,979 
Borrowings  66,289,814 47,835,676 30,181,258 
Other liabilities 35,572,347 19,491,087 15,516,898 
    
Total liabilities 734,034,914 702,721,259 606,635,619 
    
    
Equity    
    
Share capital  14,753,306 14,753,306 14,753,306 
Reserves  14,753,306 14,753,306 14,753,306 
Unrealised gains on investments 1,703,817 1,860,347 1,800,042 
Retained earnings 69,005,285 61,514,550 59,480,614 
    
Total equity 100,215,714 92,881,509 90,787,268 
        
Total liabilities and equity 834,250,628 795,602,768 697,422,887 
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BANK OF ST. VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES LIMITED

fOr the year ended 31 december 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

COnsOLidated stateMent Of 
COMPrehensiVe inCOMe 
Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

 

3 
 

 

2013 2012 
$ $   

  
  

  
Interest income  47,825,394    46,347,376  
        
Interest expense  (21,884,437)   (20,268,190) 
        
Net interest income 25,940,957    26,079,186  
        
Net fee and commission income  6,623,709    5,365,159  
        
Dividend income  49,414    113,517  
        
Net foreign exchange trading income  5,324,565   4,105,004  
        
Other gains  89,755    1,044,200  
        
Operating expenses  (29,415,268)   (29,817,041) 
        
Impairment losses on investment securities (770,900)   (1,264,060) 
        
Recoveries of loans and advances, net  1,195,762    1,312,418  
  
Profit before income tax 

9,037,994    6,938,383  

        
Income tax expense  (1,547,259)   (1,304,447) 
        
 Profit for the year 7,490,735   5,633,936  
    

   Earnings per share  0.73   0.56  
        

 

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to
Profits or loss in subsequent periods:
Unrealised (losses)/gains on available- for- sale securities
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

(156,530)    60,305
 
 7,334,205   5,694,241 
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“leading the local industry, charting the 
course For the others to Follow”

suMMary Of finanCiaL 
PerfOrManCe

Review of 2013 
economic growth in st. 
vincent and the grenadines 
remained under 2% in 2013 
below a level required to 
sustain the socio-economic 
demands without negatively 
impacting certain critical 
sectors.	The	financial	sector	
being such an integral part 
of the economy continues to 
be negatively affected by the 
current	economic	context.	

despite this subdued 
economic	 context,	 the	 bank	

continued the positive performance trend in 2013 following 
the	rebranding	 just	over	 three	year	ago.	For	 the	financial	year	
ended	December	31st	2013,	the	bank	recorded	a	profit	after	tax	
of	$7.5M,	compared	with	$5.6M	for	the	2012	financial	year	–	an	
increase	of	$1.9M	or	33%.	Total	assets	grew	from	$795.6M	at	
December	31st	2012	to	$834.3M	at	the	end	of	the	2013	financial	
year - december 31st 2013. 

during the year, the bank continued to focus its main activities 
on	the	management	of	the	overall	quality	of	assets;	the	efficient	
management of costs, and the continuous improvement in 
customer	 service	 delivery.	 Specifically,	 significant	 resources	
were allocated to the management of the loan portfolio with 
particular emphasis on delinquency management. accordingly, 
we have been able to maintain the performing portfolio at a high 
level of just above 93% of the total loan portfolio. we have also 
maintained operating costs at the same level as 2012 while 
improving the income level in 2013, thereby increasing the 
overall	profitability	for	the	year.

2013 was also a historic year for the bank. at the close of the 
initial public offering on January 25th, 2013, a portion of the 
shares	of	the	Bank	was	acquired	by	the	general	public	for	the	first	
time following the further divestment by the government of st. 
Vincent	and	the	Grenadines.	As	at	December	31,	2013,	16.84%	
of the shares of the bank were held by the public shareholders 
including	0.96%	by	the	employees	of	the	Bank.	

customer focus
there was a high level of internal re-organisation during the year 
as we moved to implement the new branch model across the 
bank’s operations. the key feature of the new model involves 
a much greater focus on the customers. this is considered a 
substantial and timely investment with the ultimate objective of 
improving and standardizing the quality of the service we provide 
across	the	branch	networks	with	a	higher	level	of	efficiency.

in late 2012, we introduced our full suite of convenience 
Banking	 Products	 from	which	 we	 realized	 immediate	 benefits	
during	 the	 2013	 financial	 year.	 The	 increase	 in	 fee	 income	
was largely attributable to the increasing distribution of our 
eZdebit card on the issuing side - a proprietary international 
debit card issued through visa. on the acquiring side, we have 
been able to establish a number of new merchant accounts to 
accept payment by credit/debit cards across the country thereby 
building	 the	 level	 of	 confidence	 with	 this	 method	 of	 payment	
among both the customers and the business community.

Outlook
The	positive	growth	experienced	 in	2013,	both	on	the	balance	
sheet	and	in	overall	profitability,	despite	the	prevailing	economic	
circumstances augurs well for the future of the bank. this is 
testament	to	the	increased	level	of	public	confidence	and	trust	
that must be converted into greater value for our customers 
and shareholders. we anticipate that the potential to increase 
the bank’s customer base over time would no doubt contribute 
to sustaining the performance trend established over the past 
three years, and provide increased value to our shareholders.

derry williamS
Managing director
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baNK of saiNt lucia iNterNatioNal liMited

board of directors 
Marius saint rose – chairman
vern gill – director
thecla deterville – director
george leonard lewis – director
James wadham – director
Keigan	Cox	-	Director
esther brown-weekes - director
estherlita cumberbatch – corporate secretary

Principal Officers  

Ryan Devaux
Chartered	Accountant	–	Chief	Executive	Officer

David Sookwa
aicb bachelor of commerce & financial services – operations Manager 

Gwyneth Taitt
llb, fcis – legal & product development Manager

Kim Vigier 
acca, financial controller

rePOrt On 
subsidiaries 
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bank of saint lucia 
international limited 
(boslil) has had another 
year of solid performance 
with continued growth of 
the balance sheet and a 
healthy net income result. 
Just as important have 
been the internal initiatives 
to continue investing in 
the business, in particular, 
our human resources and 
our technology to ensure 
that we are well positioned 
to take advantage of the 
many opportunities that are 

available in the market going forward. our strategy for continued 
diversification	from	a	revenue	perspective	and	in	the	geographic	
markets we serve has continued and the bank continues to 
enter into new strategic relationships which will positively impact 
performance going forward.

these successes come despite the continued pressure 
internationally against the “offshore” industry and the realities 
of increased costs in order to remain in the industry. the most 
significant	 and	 current	 of	 these	 realities	 is	 the	 implementation	
of	the	Foreign	Account	Tax	Compliance	Act	(FATCA)	which	will	
take effect in 2014. indeed greater transparency will become 
the new norm going forward and rather than being a threat, it 
should be regarded as an opportunity. the opportunity being 
to	 continue	 focusing	 on	 excellent	 service	 delivered	 efficiently	
and competitively for the ever growing banking needs of a 
global commercial space. this is where we need to continue 
positioning ourselves for a long sustainable future. 

Financial Highlights 2013
Total	 assets	 at	 December	 31,	 2013	 of	 US	 $372.3	 million	
increased	 from	 US	 $242.6	 million	 at	 December	 31,	 2012.	
similarly customer deposits increased in line with the change 
in	 assets	 from	 US	 $219.6	 million	 to	 US	 $358.9	 million.	 This	
increase in assets and liabilities is consistent with boslil’s 
efforts to grow the business.

Net	profit	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2013	was	US	$2.7	
million	 as	 compared	 to	 US	 $3.3	 million	 for	 the	 year	 ended	
december 31, 2012. one of the main reasons for this variance 
related to the performance of the bond market in 2012 as the 
Bank	benefited	from	approximately	US	$0.87	million	in	realized	
gains from the sale of bonds that year. this was in contrast to 
2013	where	the	bond	market	was	predicted	to	be	flat	and	indeed	
the	 realized	gains	 in	 the	portfolio	were	only	US	$0.37	million.	
there were otherwise increased costs associated with relocation 
to	the	new	offices	and	a	continued	investment	in	new	personnel	
which	also	affected	net	income.	Operating	expenses	increased	
during	the	year	from	US	$3.3	million	to	US	$3.5	million.

the bank continued to maintain a conservative investment 
profile	for	its	bond	portfolios.	Consistent	with	prior	years	and	the	
importance	placed	on	protecting	clients’	deposits,	69%	(62%	-	
2012) of total assets were held as cash and cash equivalents.

boslil’s assets are managed and maintained separately 
from related companies. the group has a strictly adhered to 
intercompany policy that restricts investments between related 
parties to no more than 10% of the investable assets and the 
value of boslil’s deposits with the domestic bank at year end 
were less than 2.3% of the balance sheet.

During	2013	BOSLIL	continued	to	experience	significant	growth	
in business volumes and new clients, including intermediary 
clients, a very important segment for the bank. boslil is 
currently engaged in a technology replacement project that will 
be implemented in 2014 to ensure that the continued growth is 
managed	and	that	excellent	service	standards	are	maintained.	
continued investments in our people and hiring the best talent 
remain important to ensure that boslil continues achieving its 
growth targets and contribute positively to the ecfh group.

setting 
a new 
COurse 
fOr a 
brighter
day

“opening a world oF opportunity, creating 
value globally...all anchored by the strength 
oF local knowledge”

ryan devaux
ceo

suMMary Of finanCiaL 
PerfOrManCe
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assets
cash and cash equivalents
cash secured loans
investment securities
other
Total Assets

Liabilities and Equity
customer deposits
other liabilities
equity

Total Liabilities & Shareholder’s Equity

Statement of income
Net operating income
Total	Expenses
net income 

2013
uS$’000

258,478
15,254
97,971

550
372,253

358,930
407

12,916

372,253

6,224
3,532
2,692

2012
uS$’000

150,404
22,660
69,167

384
242,615

219,616
10,710
12,289

242,615

6,625
3,334
3,291

bank Of Saint lucia internatiOnal limited
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“every good sailor knows that the seas can 
be rough at tiMes, but the satisFaction oF 
long-terM success is its own reward.”

suMMary Of finanCiaL 
PerfOrManCe

ecfh global 
iNvestMeNt 
solutioNs 
liMited

board of directors 
lisle chase – chairman
wendell skeete
cadie saint rose-albertini 
vern gill
esther brown-weekes
Joanna charles
estherlita cumberbatch – 
corporate secretary

dianne augustin, 
Manager – BSc Banking & Finance; LLB

Overview
The	countries	of	ECCU	continued	to	experience	challenges	with	
increasing debt to gdp levels, rising unemployment and lower 
corporate	 profits.	 These	 factors	 had	 an	 adverse	 effect	 on	 the	
capital	markets	which	resulted	in	a	flight	to	safety	as	investors	
took a more cautious approach to investing thus reducing the 
demand for a wide range of securities, particularly longer term 
bond issues. 

Notwithstanding these challenges, ecfh global investment 
solutions limited delivered record growth in business during 
2013	 resulting	 in	 a	 net	 income	 before	 tax	 of	 EC$1.8M	 an	
increase of 87% year over year. 

these results can be attributed to the substantial increase in 
merchant	 banking	 activities,	 specifically	 private	 placements	 of	
debt issues as well as the strengthening of customer relationships 
and the provision of quality service. ecfh global investments 
paid particular attention to creating greater synergies between 
investors and issuers evidenced by the increased revenue 
from	Merchant	Banking	 deals.	 Expenses	were	 lower	 than	 the	
previous year, attributed to an improvement in the company’s 
level	of	efficiency.

Investors	and	issuers	alike	have	come	to	rely	on	our	expertise	

in the regional capital markets and our ability to distribute and 
trade	securities	efficiently.

Merchant Banking & Capital Markets Services:
Merchant banking remained the largest contributor to the 
Company’s	total	revenue	accounting	for	64%	of	the	total	income.	
during 2013, ecfh global investments worked closely with a 
number of sovereign entities in the region, successfully issuing 
securities for the governments of saint lucia, grenada and the 
commonwealth of dominica. 

revenue from capital Market services the second largest 
contributor	to	income	also	increased,	exceeding	the	December	
2012 results by 30%. this was attributed to the introduction 
of new clients and the emphasis on improving dialogue and 
deepening	relationships	with	existing	clients.

Other income: 
other income grew by 207% which is inclusive of interest income 
on	the	Company’s	growing	balance	sheet	and	foreign	exchange	
gains realized on various deals.

Outlook for 2014
Though	 no	 significant	 improvement	 is	 expected	 in	 regards	 to	
economic	 growth,	 ECFH	 Global	 Investments	 has	 identified	 a	
number of opportunities within the region that will continue to 
support	our	growth	and	profitability	during	the	coming	year.	
we have embarked on several initiatives geared at introducing 
innovative products and services to the market which will act as 
a catalyst to increasing activity and renew interest in the capital 
markets.
 
the company is in the process of fostering strategic partnerships 
which will enable us to tap into new markets whilst building our 
capacity	and	expertise	in	the	development	of	new	products.
 
as part of our corporate social responsibility we will embark on 
programmes which are geared at educating investing public 
on the fundamentals of investing and to create awareness of 
current market issues.

dianne auguStin
Manager
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assets
investments
other
Total Assets

Liabilities & Equity 
liabilities  
equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

Statement of income
fee & commission
other income
Expenses	(tax	included)
net income after tax

2013
$’000

281
3,577
3,858

514
3,344
3,858

2,163
615

1,561
1,217

2012
$’000

1,826
1,531
3,357

415
2,942
3,357

1,668
200

1,132
736

ecfh glObal inveStment SOlutiOnS limited
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resPOnsibiLities

the management of the east caribbean financial holdings company is responsible for the preparation 
and	fair	presentation	of	the	financial	statements	and	other	financial	information	contained	within	this	Annual	
Report.	The	accompanying	financial	statements	were	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	
reporting standards. where amounts had to be based on estimates and judgments, these represent the 
best estimates and judgments of Management.

In	 discharging	 its	 responsibility	 for	 the	 integrity	 and	 fairness	 of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 and	 for	 the	
accounting systems from which they were derived, Management has developed and maintains a system 
of accounting and reporting which provides the necessary internal controls that ensure transactions are 
properly authorized, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use of or disposition and liabilities 
are	recognized.	This	is	supported	by	written	policies	and	procedures;	quality	standards	in	recruiting	and	
training	employees;	and	an	established	organizational	structure	that	permits	accountability	for	performance	
within	appropriate	and	well-defined	areas	of	responsibility.	An	Audit	Unit	that	conducts	periodic	audits	of	all	
aspects of the group’s operations further supports the system of internal controls. 

The	 Board	 of	 Directors	 oversees	 Management	 responsibility	 for	 financial	 reporting	 through	 the	 Audit	
Committee,	which	comprises	only	Directors	who	are	neither	officers	nor	staff	of	 the	Bank.	The	primary	
responsibility of the audit committee is to review the group’s internal control procedures and plan revision 
of	those	procedures,	and	to	advise	directors	on	auditing	matters	and	financial	reporting	issues.	The	Group’s	
head of internal audit has full and unrestricted access to the audit committee. 

The	Eastern	Caribbean	Central	Bank	makes	such	examination	and	enquiry	into	the	affairs	of	the	Group	as	
deemed necessary to ensure that the provision of the banking act relating to safety of depositors’ funds 
and	shareholders’	equity	is	being	observed	and	that	the	Group	is	in	a	sound	financial	condition.	

Ernst	 &	 Young	 appointed	 as	 Auditors	 by	 the	 shareholders	 of	 the	Group,	 have	 examined	 the	 financial	
statements and their report follows. the shareholders’ auditors have full and unrestricted access to the 
Audit	 Committee	 to	 discuss	 their	 audit	 and	 related	 findings	 as	 to	 the	 integrity	 of	 the	Group’s	 financial	
reporting and adequacy of the systems of internal control.

eSther brOwn-weekeS   gOrdOn cOchrane
group MaNagiNg director (ag)  group fiNaNcial coNtroller
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the shareholders of East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of East Caribbean Financial Holding Company
Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2013, and the consolidated statement income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2013, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
St. Lucia
April 25, 2014

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

2 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012

$’000

Restated
as at 

January 1 
2012 

$’000
Assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 6) 166,613 196,889 144,923
Treasury bills (Note 7) 5,981 4,633 4,893
Deposits with other banks (Note 8) 845,537 442,852 388,239
Financial assets held for trading (Note 9) 13,860 28,129 7,206
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions (Note 10) 1,605 1,340 479
Loans and receivables - loans and advances to customers (Note 11) 1,868,728 1,868,294 1,903,119

                      - bonds (Note 13) 10,033 10,033 13,081
Investment securities (Note 14) 522,466 500,245 430,551
Financial instruments - pledged assets (Note 15) 41,026 51,893 92,869
Due from reinsurers (Note 38) 4,691 5,737 5,511
Due from insurance agents, brokers and policyholders 2,351 2,241 1,712
Investment in associates (Note 16) 9,612 8,031 11,857
Property and equipment (Note 17) 149,158 151,729 151,936
Investment properties (Note 18) 15,215 15,302 17,249
Intangible assets (Note 19) 7,322 8,683 9,810
Other assets (Note 20) 43,090 49,201 44,323
Retirement benefit asset (Note 22) 7,268 6,101 3,177
Deferred tax asset (Note 27) 5,187 6,291 7,694
Income tax recoverable 4,591 5,119 4,353

Total assets 3,724,334 3,362,743 3,242,982

Liabilities

Deposits from banks (Note 23) 108,872 102,213 62,758
Due to customers (Note 24) 3,046,471 2,696,369 2,437,979
Repurchase agreements (Note 15) 26,328 28,918 59,655
Due to reinsurers 1,284 1,165 2,046
Insurance claims and deferred revenue (Note 38) 9,018 9,943 9,992
Dividends payable 278 569 283
Borrowings (Note 25) 213,125 203,913 250,759
Preference shares (Note 47) 4,150 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities (Note 26) 54,097 38,561 31,013

Total liabilities 3,463,623 3,085,801 2,858,635
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(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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finanCiaL POsitiOn

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars) 

2 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012

$’000

Restated
as at 

January 1 
2012 

$’000
Assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 6) 166,613 196,889 144,923
Treasury bills (Note 7) 5,981 4,633 4,893
Deposits with other banks (Note 8) 845,537 442,852 388,239
Financial assets held for trading (Note 9) 13,860 28,129 7,206
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions (Note 10) 1,605 1,340 479
Loans and receivables - loans and advances to customers (Note 11) 1,868,728 1,868,294 1,903,119

                      - bonds (Note 13) 10,033 10,033 13,081
Investment securities (Note 14) 522,466 500,245 430,551
Financial instruments - pledged assets (Note 15) 41,026 51,893 92,869
Due from reinsurers (Note 38) 4,691 5,737 5,511
Due from insurance agents, brokers and policyholders 2,351 2,241 1,712
Investment in associates (Note 16) 9,612 8,031 11,857
Property and equipment (Note 17) 149,158 151,729 151,936
Investment properties (Note 18) 15,215 15,302 17,249
Intangible assets (Note 19) 7,322 8,683 9,810
Other assets (Note 20) 43,090 49,201 44,323
Retirement benefit asset (Note 22) 7,268 6,101 3,177
Deferred tax asset (Note 27) 5,187 6,291 7,694
Income tax recoverable 4,591 5,119 4,353

Total assets 3,724,334 3,362,743 3,242,982

Liabilities

Deposits from banks (Note 23) 108,872 102,213 62,758
Due to customers (Note 24) 3,046,471 2,696,369 2,437,979
Repurchase agreements (Note 15) 26,328 28,918 59,655
Due to reinsurers 1,284 1,165 2,046
Insurance claims and deferred revenue (Note 38) 9,018 9,943 9,992
Dividends payable 278 569 283
Borrowings (Note 25) 213,125 203,913 250,759
Preference shares (Note 47) 4,150 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities (Note 26) 54,097 38,561 31,013

Total liabilities 3,463,623 3,085,801 2,858,635
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East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position…continued 
As of 31 December 2013 
 
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
 

3 
 

 

 
2013 

$’000  

 Restated 
2012 

$’000 

 Restated 
as at 1 

January 
2012   

$’000 
Equity     
Share capital (Note 28) 170,081  170,081 170,081 
Contributed capital (Note 29) 1,118  3,118 3,118 
Reserves (Note 31) 154,297  150,858 147,324 
Revaluation surplus 13,855  13,855 13,855 
Unrealized (loss) /gain on investments (5,346)  12,318 (4,420) 
Accumulated (Deficit)/retained earnings (123,376)  (119,956) 8,106 
     
Attributable to the Company’s equity holders 210,629  230,274 338,064 
     
Non – controlling interests (Note 30) 50,082  46,668 46,283 
     
Total equity 260,711  276,942 384,347 
     
     
Total liabilities and equity  3,724,334  3,362,743 3,242,982 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2014: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ Director  _____________________________ Director 
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Total liabilities and equity  3,724,334  3,362,743 3,242,982 
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Approved by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2014: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ Director  _____________________________ Director 
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For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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COnsOLidated stateMent Of inCOMe
East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Consolidated Statement of Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2013

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

5 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012 

$’000     

Interest income (Note 34) 170,133 175,301
Interest expense (Note 34) (84,237) (82,173)

Net interest income 85,896 93,128
Net fee and commission income (Note 35) 33,220 27,878

Net foreign exchange trading income (Note 35) 14,745 13,068
Other gains (Note 39) 14,486 3,325
Other operating income (Note 36) 3,472 3,706
Net insurance premium revenue (Note 37) 3,687 5,643
Net insurance claims (Note 37) (1,939) (3,176)
Impairment losses - loans (39,183) (127,137)
Impairment losses - investments (771) (24,415)
Impairment losses – property and equipment – (10,410)
Operating expenses (Note 40) (109,055) (102,664)

Operating profit/(loss) 4,558 (121,054)
Share of profit in associates (Note 16) 1,581 1,482
Profit/(loss) for the year before income tax and 
dividends 6,139 (119,572)
Dividends on preference shares (291) (291)

Profit/(loss) for the year before income tax 5,848 (119,863)
Income tax expense (Note 42) (2,439) (3,088)

Profit/(loss) for the year 3,409 (122,951)

Attributable to:
-Equity holders of the Company (95) (125,451)

-Non-controlling interests (Note 30) 3,504 2,500

Profit/(loss) for the year 3,409 (122,951)

Earnings/(Loss) per share for profit/(loss) attributable to the equity 
holders of the Company during the year
- basic – (5.13)

- diluted – (4.96)
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6 

2013 
$’000

Restated
 2012 
$’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 3,409 (122,951)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods:
Unrealised (loss)/gain on available-for-sale investments (17,755) 16,788

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified  to profit or loss
in subsequent period:
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit 944 2,969

Net other comprehensive (loss) (16,811) 19,757

Total comprehensive loss for the year (13,402) (103,194)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (16,816) (105,343)
Non-controlling interests (Note 30) 3,414 2,149

(13,402) (103,194)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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7 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) for the year before income tax 6,139 (119,572)
Adjustments for:

Interest income on investments (32,427) (36,972)
Depreciation 7,697 7,514
Impairment losses on loans and advances and investment securities 39,954 151,552
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,936 2,017
Impairment loss on property and equipment – 10,410
Unrealised exchange gain 486 912
Unrealised loss/(gain) on investments held for trading 499 (1,360)
Retirement benefit expense 1,424 1,787
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (178) (11)
Loss on disposal of investment properties – 480
Fair value gain on investment property (19) (390)
Share of profit of associate (1,581) (1,482)
Net gains on disposal of investments (14,202) (1,621)
Retirement benefit contributions paid (1,647) (1,742)

Cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities 8,081 11,522

Decrease/(increase) in mandatory deposits with Central Bank 1,586 (12,456)
Increase in loans and advances to customers (39,617) (89,265)
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 6,001 5,953
Decrease/(increase) in due from re insurers 1,045 (226)
Increase in due to customers 350,102 258,389
Decrease in repurchase agreements (2,590) (30,736)
Increase in deposits from banks 6,659 39,456
Decrease in insurance claims and deferred revenue (924) (49)
Increase in other liabilities 15,655 6,667
Decrease in financial instruments - pledged assets 9,862 39,687
Decrease/(increase) in trading assets 13,770 (19,563)
(Increase)/decrease in treasury bills (1,348) 10

Cash generated from operations 368,282 197,483

Income tax paid (809) (1,905)
Interest received 35,408 43,255

Net cash from operating activities 402,881 238,833
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8 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012 

$’000
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities (348,712) (423,265)
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of investment securities 319,705 346,967
Purchase of property and equipment (5,322) (19,653)
Purchase of intangible assets (575) (890)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 374 1,942
Proceeds from disposal of investment property 106 1,857

Net cash used in investing activities (34,424) (93,042)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to our shareholders (581) (4,211)
Contributions withdrawn (3,000) –
Reserve Reduction (829)
Proceeds from capital contributions 1,000 –
Proceeds from borrowings 34,118 –
Repayments from borrowings (24,906) (46,845)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 5,802 (51,056)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 374,259 94,735

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 514,953 420,218

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 44) 889,212 514,953

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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9 

1 General information

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited (the “Company” or “Parent Company”) was formed pursuant 
to an Agreement for Amalgamation (the Agreement) dated 31 March 2001, between National Commercial Bank of 
Saint Lucia Limited (NCB), a company incorporated in Saint Lucia and continued under the Companies Act, 1996 
of Saint Lucia and Saint Lucia Development Bank (SLDB), a company reincorporated under the same Act. Under 
the terms of the Agreement the companies agreed to amalgamate in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1996 from 1 July 2001 and to continue as one company as at the date of the Certificate of 
Amalgamation. The Certificate of Amalgamation was issued on 30 June 2001. 

In addition for compliance with the Companies Act of Saint Lucia, certain entities within the East Caribbean 
Financial Holding Company Limited are subject to the provisions of the Banking Act, 1991, Insurance Act, 1995 
and International Business Companies Act, 1999. 

The principal activity of the company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is the provision of financial services. The 
registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at No.1 Bridge Street, Castries, Saint 
Lucia.

The principal shareholding of the Group is stated in Note 46. 

The Company is listed on the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange.

The statement of financial position was restated retrospectively for the following:

(a) The implementation of IAS 19 revised which lead to cumulative prior year adjustments of $2,618 against the 
retirement benefit assets (Note 22) and retirement benefit reserves (Note 31). The Group applied IAS 19 
(Revised 2011) retrospectively in the current period in accordance with the transitional provisions set out in 
the revised standard. The opening statement of financial position of the earliest comparative period presented 
(1 January 2012) and the comparative figures have been accordingly restated.
IAS 19 (Revised 2011) changes, amongst other things, the accounting for defined benefit plans. Some of the 
key changes that impacted the Group include the following:
-  All past service costs are recognised at the earlier of when the amendment/curtailment occurs or when the 

related restructuring or termination costs are recognised. As a result, unvested past service costs can no 
longer be deferred and recognised over the future vesting period. Previously, the Group had a balance of 
unrecognized service cost of $688 as at 1 January 2012. 
IAS 19 (Revised 2011) also requires more extensive disclosures. These have been provided in Note 22.
IAS 19 (Revised 2011) has been applied retrospectively, with following permitted exceptions: 

- The carrying amounts of other assets have not been adjusted for changes in employee benefit costs that were 
included before 1 January 2012

- Sensitivity disclosures for the defined benefit obligation for comparative period (year ended 31 December 
2012) have not been provided. 

(b) The recognition of loans sold to ECHMB previously reported off statement of financial position. These 
amounts were adjusted for against loans and advances (Note 11) and borrowings (Note 25). 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

10

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance
East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).  

Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 
classified in the consolidated statement of financial position as trading financial assets and land and buildings 
classified as property and equipment and investment properties. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New standards and amendments/revisions to published standards and interpretations effective in 2013

The following amendments to published standards are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013:  

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income - Amendments to IAS 1

The amendments to IAS 1 introduce a grouping requirement for items presented in other comprehensive 
income.  Items that will be reclassified ('recycled') to the consolidated statement of income in the future (e.g. 
exchange differences on translating foreign operations) will be presented separately from items that will not 
be reclassified (e.g. gain recognised on revaluation of land and buildings). The amendment only affect 
disclosures of the Group and as such did not have any impact on the Group's financial position or 
performance.  

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Clarification of requirements for comparative information
as part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009 - 2011)  

These amendments clarify the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the 
minimum required comparative information. An entity must include comparative information in the related 
notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum 
required comparative period. The amendments clarify that the opening statement of financial position 
presented as a result of retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in financial statements does not 
have to be accompanied by comparative information in the related notes. The amendments affect presentation 
only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance
East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).  

Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 
classified in the consolidated statement of financial position as trading financial assets and land and buildings 
classified as property and equipment and investment properties. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New standards and amendments/revisions to published standards and interpretations effective in 2013

The following amendments to published standards are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013:  

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income - Amendments to IAS 1

The amendments to IAS 1 introduce a grouping requirement for items presented in other comprehensive 
income.  Items that will be reclassified ('recycled') to the consolidated statement of income in the future (e.g. 
exchange differences on translating foreign operations) will be presented separately from items that will not 
be reclassified (e.g. gain recognised on revaluation of land and buildings). The amendment only affect 
disclosures of the Group and as such did not have any impact on the Group's financial position or 
performance.  

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Clarification of requirements for comparative information
as part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009 - 2011)  

These amendments clarify the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the 
minimum required comparative information. An entity must include comparative information in the related 
notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum 
required comparative period. The amendments clarify that the opening statement of financial position 
presented as a result of retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in financial statements does not 
have to be accompanied by comparative information in the related notes. The amendments affect presentation 
only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Basis of preparation…continued

(a) New standards and amendments/revisions to published standards and interpretations effective in 2013
IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised 2011)  

IAS 19 (revised 2011) changes the accounting for defined benefit plans and termination benefits. The most 
significant change relates to the accounting for changes in defined benefit obligations and plan assets. The 
amendments require the recognition of changes in defined benefit obligations and in the fair value of plan 
assets when they occur, and hence eliminate the 'corridor approach' permitted under the previous version of 
IAS 19 and accelerate the recognition of past service costs.  All actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
immediately through other comprehensive income in order for the net pension asset or liability recognised in 
the consolidated statement of financial position to reflect the full value of the plan deficit or surplus.  
Furthermore, the interest cost and expected return on plan assets used in the previous version of IAS 19 are 
replaced with a 'net interest' amount under IAS 19 (revised 2011), which is calculated by applying the 
discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.   

IAS 19 (revised 2011) also introduces certain changes in the presentation of defined benefit cost including 
more extensive disclosures. These have been provided in Note 22. 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - 
Amendments to IFRS 7 

The amendments to IFRS 7 require an entity to disclose information about rights of offset and related 
arrangements (e.g. collateral agreements). The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial 
instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures 
also apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or 
'similar agreement', irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. The amendment only 
affect disclosures of the Group and as such did not have any impact on the Group's financial position or 
performance.

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued  

Basis of preparation…continued

(a) New standards and amendments/revisions to published standards and interpretations effective
in 2013 …continued

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It 
also addresses the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities, which resulted in SIC-12 
being withdrawn. IAS 27, as revised, is limited to the accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and associates in separate financial statements.

IFRS 10 does not change consolidation procedures (i.e., how to consolidate an entity) rather; IFRS 10 changes 
whether an entity is consolidated by revising the definition of control. Control exists when an investor has all 
of the following:

• Power over the investee (defined in IFRS 10 as when the investor has existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities)

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
• IFRS 10 also provides a number of clarifications on applying this new definition of control, including 

the following key points: 
• An investor is any party that potentially controls an investee; such party need not hold an equity 

investment to be considered an investor. 
• An investor may have control over an investee even when it has less than a majority of the voting rights 

of that investee (sometimes referred to as de facto control)
• Exposure to risks and rewards is an indicator of control, but does not in itself constitute control.
• When decision-making rights have been delegated or are being held for the benefit of others, it is 

necessary to assess whether  a decision-maker is a principal or an agent to determine whether it has 
control 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued  

Basis of preparation…continued

(a) New standards and amendments/revisions to published standards and interpretations effective
in 2013 …continued

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It 
also addresses the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities, which resulted in SIC-12 
being withdrawn. IAS 27, as revised, is limited to the accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and associates in separate financial statements.

IFRS 10 does not change consolidation procedures (i.e., how to consolidate an entity) rather; IFRS 10 changes 
whether an entity is consolidated by revising the definition of control. Control exists when an investor has all 
of the following:

• Power over the investee (defined in IFRS 10 as when the investor has existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities)

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
• IFRS 10 also provides a number of clarifications on applying this new definition of control, including 

the following key points: 
• An investor is any party that potentially controls an investee; such party need not hold an equity 

investment to be considered an investor. 
• An investor may have control over an investee even when it has less than a majority of the voting rights 

of that investee (sometimes referred to as de facto control)
• Exposure to risks and rewards is an indicator of control, but does not in itself constitute control.
• When decision-making rights have been delegated or are being held for the benefit of others, it is 

necessary to assess whether  a decision-maker is a principal or an agent to determine whether it has 
control 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Basis of preparation…continued

(a) New standards and amendments/revisions to published standards and interpretations effective in 
 2013…continued 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 set out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity's interest in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities.  Some of the more extensive qualitative and quantitative 
disclosures of IFRS 12 include: 

• Summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the reporting entity.

• Significant judgements used by management in determining control, joint control and significant 
influence, and the type of joint arrangement (i.e., joint operation or joint venture), if applicable.  

• Summarised financial information for each individually material joint venture and associate.  
• Nature of the risks associated with an entity’s interests in unconsolidated structured entities, and 

changes to those risks.

IFRS 12 only affect disclosures of the Group and as such did not have any impact on the Group's financial 
position or performance. These disclosures are provided in Note 16.  

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements.  IFRS 13 does 
not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure 
fair value under IFRS.  Fair value under IFRS 13 is defined as "the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer to liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date" (i.e. an exit price).

IFRS 13 provides clarification on a number of areas, including the following:  

• Concepts of ‘highest and best use’ and ‘valuation premise’ are relevant only for non-financial assets.  
•    Adjustments for blockage factors (block discounts) are prohibited in all fair value measurements.
• A description of how to measure fair value when a market becomes less active.  

IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Group. Additional disclosures 
where required, are provided in the notes to consolidated financial statements. Fair value hierarchy is 
provided in Note 3. 

  

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Basis of preparation…continued

(b) New standards and amendments / revisions to published standards and interpretations effective in 2013 
but not applicable to the Group.  

The following new and revised IFRS that has been issued does not apply to the activities of the Group:  
• IFRS 1 Government Loans - Amendments to IFRS 1 - Effective 1 January 2013  
• IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - Effective 1 January 2013  
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009 - 2011 cycle – Effective 1 January 2013:  
• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Repeated application of 

IFRS 1and borrowing costs  
• IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment - Classification of servicing equipment  
• IAS 32 Financial Instruments, Presentation - Tax effect of distributions to holders of equity instruments 
• IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting - Interim financial reporting and segment information for total assets 

and liabilities

(c) New interpretations and revised or amended standards that are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted by the Group

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement - In July 2013 the IASB tentatively 
decided to defer the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 (1 January 2015) until the issue date of the 
completed version of IFRS 9 is known.  

• IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entities - Amendments - Effective 1 January 2014  
• IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32 - Effective 

1 January 2014 
• IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets - Amendments to IAS 36 - Effective 

1 January 2014 
• IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting - Amendments to IAS 39 –

Effective 1 January 2014  
• IFRIC 21 Levies - Effective 1 January 2014  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Basis of preparation…continued

(b) New standards and amendments / revisions to published standards and interpretations effective in 2013 
but not applicable to the Group.  

The following new and revised IFRS that has been issued does not apply to the activities of the Group:  
• IFRS 1 Government Loans - Amendments to IFRS 1 - Effective 1 January 2013  
• IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine - Effective 1 January 2013  
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009 - 2011 cycle – Effective 1 January 2013:  
• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Repeated application of 

IFRS 1and borrowing costs  
• IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment - Classification of servicing equipment  
• IAS 32 Financial Instruments, Presentation - Tax effect of distributions to holders of equity instruments 
• IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting - Interim financial reporting and segment information for total assets 

and liabilities

(c) New interpretations and revised or amended standards that are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted by the Group

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement - In July 2013 the IASB tentatively 
decided to defer the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 (1 January 2015) until the issue date of the 
completed version of IFRS 9 is known.  

• IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entities - Amendments - Effective 1 January 2014  
• IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32 - Effective 

1 January 2014 
• IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets - Amendments to IAS 36 - Effective 

1 January 2014 
• IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting - Amendments to IAS 39 –

Effective 1 January 2014  
• IFRIC 21 Levies - Effective 1 January 2014  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Basis of preparation…continued

Consolidation 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries used to prepare the consolidated financial statements were prepared 
as of the parent company’s reporting date. The consolidation principles are unchanged as against the previous 
year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the parent entity and all 
subsidiaries as of 31 December 2013(the reporting date). 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the investee)
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
• When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and 
liabilities,equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 
eliminated in full on consolidation. 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Basis of preparation…continued

Consolidation…continued

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 
• Derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to

profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 
of income from the effective acquisition date or up to the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and 
the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Basis of preparation…continued

Consolidation…continued

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 
• Derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to

profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 
of income from the effective acquisition date or up to the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and 
the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Basis of preparation…continued

Consolidation…continued

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share 
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of 
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of 
income. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies have been 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the 
asset transferred.

The integration of the subsidiaries into the consolidated financial statements is based on consistent accounting 
and valuation methods for similar transactions and other occurrences under similar circumstances.

(b) Transactions and non-controlling interests  
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the group. For 
purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. Any losses applicable to the non-controlling interest are 
allocated against the interests of the non-controlling interest even if this results in a deficit balance. Non-
controlling interests are presented separately within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured 
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint 
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate.

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Consolidation…continued

(c) Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies. Investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method of accounting and initially 
recognised at cost.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment 
loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its 
carrying value, then recognizes the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment 
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of 
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognized in profit or loss.The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves recognised in 
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 
months’ maturity from the date of acquisition including: cash and non-restricted balances with the Central Bank, 
treasury bills, deposits with other banks, deposits with a non-bank financial institutions and other short-term 
securities.



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 2013 57n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

18

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Consolidation…continued

(c) Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies. Investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method of accounting and initially 
recognised at cost.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment 
loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its 
carrying value, then recognizes the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment 
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of 
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognized in profit or loss.The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves recognised in 
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 
months’ maturity from the date of acquisition including: cash and non-restricted balances with the Central Bank, 
treasury bills, deposits with other banks, deposits with a non-bank financial institutions and other short-term 
securities.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued 

Financial assets
The Group allocates financial assets to the following IAS 39 categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. 
Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories; financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value 
through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are 
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. 

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction costs are taken 
directly to the consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
included directly in the consolidated statement of income and are reported as ‘Fair value gains’. Interest income 
and expense and dividend income and expenses on financial assets held for trading are included in ‘Net interest 
income‘. The instruments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the transfer qualifies for derecognising.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the short term, 
which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair 
value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or 
(c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of 
credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate or 
purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Loans and receivables are reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as loans and advances to customers or as investment securities. Interest on loans and receivables is 
included in the consolidated statement of income. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as 
a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and receivables and recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income. 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Financial assets…continued 

(c) Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than: (a) 
those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the 
Group designates as available-for-sale; and (c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables. These are 
initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest on held-to-maturity investments is 
included in the consolidated statement of income. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income as finance costs.

If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category 
would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. The difference between the carrying value and fair value 
is recognised in equity. 

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices 
or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to- maturity investments or financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration 
including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange 
gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised. Management makes judgements at each reporting date 
to determine whether available-for-sale investments are impaired. These investments are impaired when the 
carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. If an 
available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of income. Interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign currency gains and losses on 
monetary assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when 
the Group’s right to receive payment is established. Where fair value cannot be determined cost was used.

Recognition/Derecognition
The Group uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions. 
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as ‘Assets pledged as collateral.’ 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to the cash flows from the asset has expired or when it has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Financial assets…continued 

(c) Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than: (a) 
those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the 
Group designates as available-for-sale; and (c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables. These are 
initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest on held-to-maturity investments is 
included in the consolidated statement of income. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income as finance costs.

If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category 
would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. The difference between the carrying value and fair value 
is recognised in equity. 

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices 
or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to- maturity investments or financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration 
including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange 
gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised. Management makes judgements at each reporting date 
to determine whether available-for-sale investments are impaired. These investments are impaired when the 
carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. If an 
available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of income. Interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign currency gains and losses on 
monetary assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when 
the Group’s right to receive payment is established. Where fair value cannot be determined cost was used.

Recognition/Derecognition
The Group uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions. 
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as ‘Assets pledged as collateral.’ 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to the cash flows from the asset has expired or when it has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 201360 n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

21

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses 
are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
(iii) the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 
(iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 

group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including; 
- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group. 

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by local management for 
each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three months and 12 months; in exceptional 
cases, longer periods are warranted.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that 
are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the assets in a group of financial assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually 
performing loans and advances are assessed collectively in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics to 
determine whether provisions should be made due to incurred loss events which are not yet evident. The 
collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio such as credit quality, levels of arrears, 
credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios, concentrations of risks and economic data country risk and the 
performance of different groups. 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

22

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Impairment of financial assets…continued

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments 
carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has variable interest rates, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the 
contract.  

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects 
the cash flows that may or may not result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, 
whether or not the foreclosure is probable. 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are 
written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the loan provision 
in the consolidated statement of income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s 
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Assets classified as available-for-sale and held for trading
The Group makes judgments at each reporting date of determine whether available-for-sale investments are 
impaired. These investments are impaired when the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and 
there is objective evidence of impairment. 

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition of an 
impairment loss. If any such evidence exists for available-for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on 
that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated income statement on equity 
instruments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Impairment of financial assets…continued

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments 
carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has variable interest rates, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the 
contract.  

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects 
the cash flows that may or may not result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, 
whether or not the foreclosure is probable. 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are 
written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the loan provision 
in the consolidated statement of income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s 
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Assets classified as available-for-sale and held for trading
The Group makes judgments at each reporting date of determine whether available-for-sale investments are 
impaired. These investments are impaired when the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and 
there is objective evidence of impairment. 

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition of an 
impairment loss. If any such evidence exists for available-for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on 
that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated income statement on equity 
instruments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement. 



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 201362 n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

23

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Impairment of financial assets…continued

Assets classified as available-for-sale and held for trading…continued

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or 
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated income statement.

Renegotiated loans
During the normal course of business financial assets carried at amortised cost may be restructured with the 
mutual agreement of the “Group” and the counterparty. When this occurs for reasons other than those which 
could be considered indicators of impairment, the Group assesses whether the restructured or renegotiated 
financial asset is significantly different from the original one by comparing the present value of the restructured 
cash flows discounted at the original instruments interest rate. If the restructured terms are significantly 
different the group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new one at fair value with any 
difference recognized in the statement of income.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to linked repurchase agreements (repos) are retained in the financial statements as 
investments securities and the counterparty liability is included in other borrowed funds. The difference 
between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement 
using the effective interest method.

Property and equipment
Land and buildings comprises mainly branches and offices occupied by the parent or its subsidiaries. Land and 
buildings are shown at fair value less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Valuations are reviewed annually 
by quantity surveyors. 

Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of income during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other 
comprehensive income. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against other 
comprehensive income, all other decreases are charged to the statement of income. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Property and equipment…continued
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated on the straight-line method to allocate their 
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 2 – 33 1/3%
Motor vehicles 20 – 25%
Office furniture & equipment 10 – 20%
Computer equipment 33 1/3%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
cost to sell and value in use. 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in 
the consolidated statement of income.

Investment properties
Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied 
by the entities in the consolidated group, are classified as investment properties. Investment property comprises 
freehold land and building which are leased out under operating leases. Some properties may be partially 
occupied by the Group, with the remainder being held for rental income or capital appreciation. If that part of 
the property occupied by the Group can be sold separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. The 
portion that is owner-occupied is accounted for under IAS 16, and the portion that is held for rental income or 
capital appreciation or both is treated as investment property under IAS 40. 

Recognition of investment properties takes place only when it is probable that the future economic benefits that 
are associated with the investment property will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably. This is 
usually the day when all risks are transferred. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing parts of an existing investment property at 
the time the cost was incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing 
of an investment property.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions 
at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of income in the year in which they 
arise.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Property and equipment…continued
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated on the straight-line method to allocate their 
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 2 – 33 1/3%
Motor vehicles 20 – 25%
Office furniture & equipment 10 – 20%
Computer equipment 33 1/3%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
cost to sell and value in use. 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in 
the consolidated statement of income.

Investment properties
Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied 
by the entities in the consolidated group, are classified as investment properties. Investment property comprises 
freehold land and building which are leased out under operating leases. Some properties may be partially 
occupied by the Group, with the remainder being held for rental income or capital appreciation. If that part of 
the property occupied by the Group can be sold separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. The 
portion that is owner-occupied is accounted for under IAS 16, and the portion that is held for rental income or 
capital appreciation or both is treated as investment property under IAS 40. 

Recognition of investment properties takes place only when it is probable that the future economic benefits that 
are associated with the investment property will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably. This is 
usually the day when all risks are transferred. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing parts of an existing investment property at 
the time the cost was incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing 
of an investment property.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions 
at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of income in the year in which they 
arise.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Investment properties …continued
Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income during the financial 
period in which they are incurred.

Investment property is carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by external 
professionally qualified valuers. Fair value is adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods 
such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Investment property is 
reviewed annually by independent external evaluators.

Investment property is measured at cost until the earlier of the date construction is completed and the date at 
which fair value becomes reliably measurable.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items arising from business combinations, 
computer software licences and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets 
with a definite useful life are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life, 
generally not exceeding 20 years.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. Generally, the identified intangible assets of 
the Group have a definite useful life. At each date of the consolidated statement of financial position, intangible 
assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such 
indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Group chooses 
to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition. 

(a) Computer software licences
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives. Software has a 
maximum expected useful life of 4 years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Intangible assets…continued

(b) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets consist of customer relationships (core deposit intangibles). Other intangible assets are 
initially recognised when they are separable or arise from contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be 
measured reliably and, in the case of intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is 
probable that future economic benefits attributable to the assets will flow from their use. The value of intangible 
assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined using income approach 
methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method. Other intangible assets are stated at cost less 
amortisation and provisions for impairment, if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised 
over their useful lives in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flows, 
generally over 12 years.

Impairment of other non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 
units). 

Insurance contracts
Recognition and measurement
The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk. Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer 
significant insurance risk.  

Insurance contracts issued are classified as short-term insurance contracts. Short-term insurance contracts are 
classified as general contracts or casualty contracts. Property insurance contracts mainly compensate the 
Group’s customers for damages suffered to their property or for the value of the property lost. Casualty 
insurance contracts protect the Group’s customers against the risk of causing harm to third parties as a result of 
their legitimate activities.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Insurance contracts…continued
For these contracts, premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) over the period of coverage. The 
portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the statement of financial 
position date is reported as the unearned premium liability. Premiums are shown before the deduction of 
commission. 

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to income as incurred based on the estimated liability for 
compensation owed to contract holders or third parties damaged by contract holders. They include direct and 
indirect claims settlement costs and arise from events that have occurred up to the statement of financial position
date even if they have not yet been reported to the Group. The Group does not discount its liabilities for unpaid 
claims. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessments for individual claims paid by the 
Group. 

Reinsurance contracts held
Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group is compensated for losses on one or 
more contracts issued by the Group and that meet the classification requirements for insurance contracts are 
classified as reinsurance contracts held.

The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance 
assets. These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers. Amounts recoverable from or due to 
reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in 
accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable 
for reinsurance contracts that are recognised as an expense when due.

The Group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the reinsurance asset 
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance assets to its recoverable amount and 
recognises that impairment loss in the statement of income. The Group assesses impairment for these financial 
assets using the same process for financial assets held at amortised cost. The impairment loss is also calculated 
following the same method used for these financial assets.

Claims provision and related reinsurance recoveries 
Provisions are made at the year end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not yet settled at the statement of 
financial position date, including the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported to the Group. The estimated cost 
of claims includes expenses to be incurred in settling the claims and a deduction for the expected value of salvage 
and other recoveries. The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding 
its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final 
outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established.

Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts
Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and 
insurance contract holders.

If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of 
the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the consolidated statement of income. 
The Group gathers the objective evidence that an insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted 
for loans and receivables. The impairment loss is also calculated under the same method used for these financial 
assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Insurance contracts…continued

Premiums and unearned premiums 
Premiums are earned over the term of the related insurance contracts in proportion to the period of risk. The 
reserve for unearned premiums is established for the portion of premiums written which relate to unexpired 
risks at the end of the period. 

Premiums ceded are expensed over the term of the related insurance contracts in proportion to the period of 
risk, coterminous with the related gross premiums. The provision for deferred premiums is established for the 
portion of premiums ceded which relate to unexpired risks at the end of the period. 

Deferred acquisition costs
Acquisition costs on premiums written vary with and are directly related to the production of business. These 
costs are deferred and recognised over the period of the policies to which they relate. 

Claims and claims expenses
Claims and claims expenses are shown gross with amounts due under reinsurance contracts shown as 
reinsurance assets. Reserves for claims are recorded as incurred and represent estimates of future payments of 
reported and unreported claims and related expenses with respect to insured events that have occurred up to the 
statement of financial position date. Reinsurance claims recoveries are estimated at the same time as the reserve 
for a claim is recorded. The provision reflects management’s best estimate of the Group’s ultimate liabilities 
and management believes that the provision is adequate.

Income tax
(a) Current tax
Income tax payable (receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in the respective jurisdiction 
and is recognised as an expense (income) for the period except to the extent that current tax related to items that 
are charged or credited in other comprehensive income. In these circumstances, current tax is charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income.  

Where the Group has tax losses that can be relieved against a tax liability for a previous year, it recognises 
those losses as an asset, because the tax relief is recoverable by refund of tax previously paid. This asset is 
offset against an existing current tax balance. Where tax losses can be relieved only by carry-forward against 
taxable profits of future periods, a deductible temporary difference arises. Those losses carried forward are set 
off against deferred tax liabilities carried in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The Group does not offset income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Insurance contracts…continued

Premiums and unearned premiums 
Premiums are earned over the term of the related insurance contracts in proportion to the period of risk. The 
reserve for unearned premiums is established for the portion of premiums written which relate to unexpired 
risks at the end of the period. 

Premiums ceded are expensed over the term of the related insurance contracts in proportion to the period of 
risk, coterminous with the related gross premiums. The provision for deferred premiums is established for the 
portion of premiums ceded which relate to unexpired risks at the end of the period. 

Deferred acquisition costs
Acquisition costs on premiums written vary with and are directly related to the production of business. These 
costs are deferred and recognised over the period of the policies to which they relate. 

Claims and claims expenses
Claims and claims expenses are shown gross with amounts due under reinsurance contracts shown as 
reinsurance assets. Reserves for claims are recorded as incurred and represent estimates of future payments of 
reported and unreported claims and related expenses with respect to insured events that have occurred up to the 
statement of financial position date. Reinsurance claims recoveries are estimated at the same time as the reserve 
for a claim is recorded. The provision reflects management’s best estimate of the Group’s ultimate liabilities 
and management believes that the provision is adequate.

Income tax
(a) Current tax
Income tax payable (receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in the respective jurisdiction 
and is recognised as an expense (income) for the period except to the extent that current tax related to items that 
are charged or credited in other comprehensive income. In these circumstances, current tax is charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income.  

Where the Group has tax losses that can be relieved against a tax liability for a previous year, it recognises 
those losses as an asset, because the tax relief is recoverable by refund of tax previously paid. This asset is 
offset against an existing current tax balance. Where tax losses can be relieved only by carry-forward against 
taxable profits of future periods, a deductible temporary difference arises. Those losses carried forward are set 
off against deferred tax liabilities carried in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The Group does not offset income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(b) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax 
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of 
financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property and equipment, amortisation of 
intangible assets and their tax base, unutilised tax losses and pension gains. However, the deferred tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting, nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Financial liabilities

The Group’s holding in financial liabilities are at amortised cost.  Financial liabilities are derecognised when 
extinguished. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers, debt securities in issue 
for which the fair value option is not applied, and subordinated debts. 

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration 
received) net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference 
between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is more likely that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

Redeemable preference shares
Preference shares which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date are classified as liabilities. The dividend 
on these preference shares are recognised in the statement of income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Employee benefits

Pension obligations 
The Group operates a defined benefit plan. The scheme is funded through payments to trustee-administered funds, 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of 
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and compensation. The pension obligation valuations are undertaken annually. 

The asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of 
plan assets. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit 
credit method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding net interest and the return on plan assets, are recognized immediately in the statement of financial 
position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in 
subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of income on the earlier of:
-  The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 

 - -   The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group 
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under ‘operating expenses’ in 
the consolidated statement of income:
- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and  non-

routine settlements
- Net interest expense or income

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current 
employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the statement of financial position date are discounted to present value.

Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Group’s banking entities to pay bills of exchange 
drawn on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously with 
the reimbursement from the customers.  Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and 
other bodies on behalf of customers. 

The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on 
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. 
No receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is 
reported in the statement of income within other operating expenses. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Employee benefits

Pension obligations 
The Group operates a defined benefit plan. The scheme is funded through payments to trustee-administered funds, 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of 
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and compensation. The pension obligation valuations are undertaken annually. 

The asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of 
plan assets. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit 
credit method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding net interest and the return on plan assets, are recognized immediately in the statement of financial 
position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in 
subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of income on the earlier of:
-  The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 

 - -   The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group 
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under ‘operating expenses’ in 
the consolidated statement of income:
- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and  non-

routine settlements
- Net interest expense or income

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current 
employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the statement of financial position date are discounted to present value.

Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Group’s banking entities to pay bills of exchange 
drawn on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously with 
the reimbursement from the customers.  Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and 
other bodies on behalf of customers. 

The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on 
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. 
No receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is 
reported in the statement of income within other operating expenses. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Employee benefits

Fiduciary activities
The Group commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding and placing of 
assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These assets and income 
arising thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial statements, as they are not assets of the Group.  

Share capital 

(i) Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition of a business 
are shown in equity as a deduction, from the proceeds. 

(ii) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of income for all financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial assets or a financial 
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering 
all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation 
includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment 
loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 

Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan 
commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and 
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising from 
negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the 
acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of a business, are recognised on completion of 
the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on 
the applicable service contracts, usually on a time apportioned basis. Asset management fees related to 
investment funds are recognised rateably over the period the service is provided. The same principle is applied 
for financial planning and custody services that are continuously provided over an extended period of time. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Premium income
Insurance premiums are charged to customers at inception. The consideration received is deferred as a liability 
and recognised over the life of the contract on a straight line basis. 

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
and the Group’s presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are transactions denominated, or that require settlement in a foreign currency 
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rates as at the reporting date. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the 
exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income.

In the case of changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency classified as available-
for-sale, a distinction is made between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the 
security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in the 
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount, except impairment, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such 
as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation 
differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets, are included in the other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Premium income
Insurance premiums are charged to customers at inception. The consideration received is deferred as a liability 
and recognised over the life of the contract on a straight line basis. 

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
and the Group’s presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are transactions denominated, or that require settlement in a foreign currency 
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rates as at the reporting date. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the 
exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income.

In the case of changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency classified as available-
for-sale, a distinction is made between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the 
security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in the 
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount, except impairment, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such 
as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation 
differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets, are included in the other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Group companies 
The functional currency of the wholly owned offshore banking subsidiary is United States dollars. For 
consolidation purposes the results and financial position are translated to the presentation currency of the 
Group using the pegged rate of EC$2.70 = US$1.00. 

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of the statement of financial position; 

• Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Leases

A Group company is the lessee
The leases entered into by the Group are primarily operating leases.  The total payments made under operating 
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period is expired, any payment required to be made to 
the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which the termination takes place.

A Group company is the lessor 
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties in the statement of financial 
position. They are depreciated over the expected useful life. Rental income is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments carried on the consolidated statement of financial position include cash resources, 
investment securities, loans and advances to customers, deposits with other banks, deposits from banks, due to 
customers and borrowings. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy 
statement associated with each item.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources to 
and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Company’s 
Board of Directors as its chief operating decision maker. 

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis, with intra-segment 
revenue and costs being eliminated in head office. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment 
are included in determining business segment performance.

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group has the following reportable segments: banking, offshore and other.

Comparatives
Certain balances were reclassified in the prior year to meet the current year presentation period. These changes 
were not considered material.

3 Financial risk management

Strategy in using financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to 
the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 
Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes 
in markets, products and emerging best practice.  

Risk management is carried out by the Management Committee under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors. The Group’s Management Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, 
as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
and non-derivative financial instruments. In addition, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for the 
independent review of risk management and the control environment.  

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market 
risk includes currency risk and interest rate risk. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources to 
and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Company’s 
Board of Directors as its chief operating decision maker. 

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis, with intra-segment 
revenue and costs being eliminated in head office. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment 
are included in determining business segment performance.

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group has the following reportable segments: banking, offshore and other.

Comparatives
Certain balances were reclassified in the prior year to meet the current year presentation period. These changes 
were not considered material.

3 Financial risk management

Strategy in using financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to 
the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 
Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes 
in markets, products and emerging best practice.  

Risk management is carried out by the Management Committee under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors. The Group’s Management Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, 
as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
and non-derivative financial instruments. In addition, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for the 
independent review of risk management and the control environment.  

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market 
risk includes currency risk and interest rate risk. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Group’s customers, clients or market 
counterparties fail to fulfill their contractual obligations to the Group. Credit risk arises mainly from 
commercial and consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such lending 
activities, but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as credit financial guarantees, letters of 
credit, endorsements and acceptances.

The Group is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities and other exposures 
arising from its trading activities (‘trading exposures’), including non-equity trading portfolio assets. 

Loans and advances 
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which, is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts 
in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred at the reporting date. 
Significant changes in the economy, or in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a 
concentration in the Group’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at the 
reporting date. Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. 

Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and other bills, external rating such as Standard & Poor’s or Caricris or their equivalents are 
used by the Asset Liability Committee for managing of the credit risk exposures. The investments in those 
securities and bills are viewed as a way to gain a better credit quality mapping and maintain a readily available 
source to meet the funding requirements at the same time.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk from insurance contracts as follows: 
- reinsurer’s share of insurance liabilities,
- amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid,
- amounts due from insurance contract holders, and 
- amounts due from insurance intermediaries.

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Group’s liability as 
primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Group remains liable for the payment to 
the policy holder. The credit worthiness of the reinsurer is considered on an annual basis by reviewing their 
financial strength prior to finalisation of any contract. 

Cash and balances with Central Bank 
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group in accordance with the 
Group’s policy. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Group’s Risk Department on an annual basis, 
and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Group’s Investment Committee and where 
necessary The Board of Directors. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore 
mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty’s failure to make payments. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk…continued 

Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified − in 
particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries.  

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in 
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a 
revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary by the Board of 
Directors.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where 
appropriate.  

Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the 
taking of security for funds advances, which is common practice. The Group implements guidelines on the 
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans 
and advances are:

• Mortgages over residential properties;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are secured; individual credit facilities are generally 
secured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss, the Group will seek additional credit collateral from 
the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances. 

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the 
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.  

Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. 
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial 
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party 
to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are authorisations 
by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan. 

The value of collateral repossessed during the year was immaterial.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk…continued 

Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified − in 
particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries.  

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in 
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a 
revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary by the Board of 
Directors.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where 
appropriate.  

Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the 
taking of security for funds advances, which is common practice. The Group implements guidelines on the 
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans 
and advances are:

• Mortgages over residential properties;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are secured; individual credit facilities are generally 
secured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss, the Group will seek additional credit collateral from 
the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances. 

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the 
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.  

Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. 
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial 
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party 
to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are authorisations 
by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan. 

The value of collateral repossessed during the year was immaterial.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk…continued 

Credit-related commitments
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, 
guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is 
potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of 
loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon 
customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit 
commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-
term commitments.

Impairment and provisioning policies 
The internal rating systems focus more on credit-quality mapping from the inception of the lending and 
investment activities. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only 
for losses that have been incurred at the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment. 

Management determines whether objective evidence of impairment exists based on the following criteria set 
out by the Group: 

• Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
• Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (eg equity ratio, net income percentage of sales);
• Breach of loan covenants or conditions; 
• Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings; 
• Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and 
• Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at 
least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment allowances on 
individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at reporting date on a case-
by-case basis, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally encompasses 
collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual 
account.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk…continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk 

Maximum exposure
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Credit risk exposures relating to the financial assets in the statement 
of financial position :

Treasury bills 5,981 4,633
Deposits with other banks 845,537 442,852
Deposits with non bank financial institutions 1,605 1,340

Loans and advances to customers:
Large corporate loans 659,448 666,751
Term loans 429,441 472,891
Mortgages 596,469 571,408
Overdrafts 183,370 157,244
Bonds 10,033 10,033

Financial assets held for trading –debt securities 13,860 28,129
Investment securities 522,466 500,245
Financial instruments - pledged assets 41,026 51,893
Other assets 42,044 48,350
Due from reinsurers 4,691 5,737
Due from insurance agents, brokers and policyholders 2,351 2,241

3,358,322 2,963,747

Credit risk exposures relating to the financial assets off the statement 
of financial position:

Loan commitments 88,896 138,941
Guarantees and letters of credit 33,672 40,295

122,568 179,236

3,480,890 3,142,983

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at 31 December 2013 and 
2012 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet 
assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial 
position. 

As shown above, 54 % (2012 – 59%) of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to 
customers and 15 % (2012 – 17%) represents investments in debt securities.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk…continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk 

Maximum exposure
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Credit risk exposures relating to the financial assets in the statement 
of financial position :

Treasury bills 5,981 4,633
Deposits with other banks 845,537 442,852
Deposits with non bank financial institutions 1,605 1,340

Loans and advances to customers:
Large corporate loans 659,448 666,751
Term loans 429,441 472,891
Mortgages 596,469 571,408
Overdrafts 183,370 157,244
Bonds 10,033 10,033

Financial assets held for trading –debt securities 13,860 28,129
Investment securities 522,466 500,245
Financial instruments - pledged assets 41,026 51,893
Other assets 42,044 48,350
Due from reinsurers 4,691 5,737
Due from insurance agents, brokers and policyholders 2,351 2,241

3,358,322 2,963,747

Credit risk exposures relating to the financial assets off the statement 
of financial position:

Loan commitments 88,896 138,941
Guarantees and letters of credit 33,672 40,295

122,568 179,236

3,480,890 3,142,983

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at 31 December 2013 and 
2012 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet 
assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial 
position. 

As shown above, 54 % (2012 – 59%) of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to 
customers and 15 % (2012 – 17%) represents investments in debt securities.
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3 Financial risk management …continued 

Credit risk…continued

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired 1,108,044 1,158,356
Past due but not impaired 295,363 246,084
Impaired 688,323 674,015

Gross 2,091,730 2,078,455

Less allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances (223,002) (210,161)

Net 1,868,728 1,868,294

The total allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances is $223,002 (2012 – $210,161) of which
$201,935 (2012 – $192,673) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of $21,067
(2012 –$17,488) represents the collective provision. Further information of the allowance for impairment 
losses on loans and advances to customers is provided in Notes 11 and 12. 

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group.

Loans and advances to customers

Overdrafts
$’000

Term 
Loans 
$’000

Mortgages 
$’000

Large
Corporate 

loans 
$’000

Total 
$’000

31 December 2013 170,756 270,481 455,244 211,563 1,108,044

31 December 2012 126,686 310,262 437,788 283,620 1,158,356
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3 Financial risk management …continued 

Credit risk…continued

Loans and advances…continued 

Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is 
available to indicate the contrary. The gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers that were past 
due but not impaired were as follows:

Term 
Loans 
$’000

Mortgages 
$’000

Large 
Corporate 

loans  
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013
Past due up to 30 days 46,482 66,378 83,563 196,423
Past due 30 – 60 days 29,487 16,297 14,594 60,378
Past due 60 – 90 days 10,428 7,329 20,805 38,562

86,397 90,004 118,962 295,363

Term
loans 
$’000

Mortgages 
$’000

Large
Corporate 

Loans 
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2012
Past due up to 30 days 67,811 71,519 42,501 181,831
Past due 30 – 60 days 18,530 7,148 13,226 38,904
Past due 60 – 90 days 10,963 8,266 6,120 25,349

97,304 86,933 61,847 246,084



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 2013 79n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

40

3 Financial risk management …continued 

Credit risk…continued

Loans and advances…continued 

Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is 
available to indicate the contrary. The gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers that were past 
due but not impaired were as follows:

Term 
Loans 
$’000

Mortgages 
$’000

Large 
Corporate 

loans  
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013
Past due up to 30 days 46,482 66,378 83,563 196,423
Past due 30 – 60 days 29,487 16,297 14,594 60,378
Past due 60 – 90 days 10,428 7,329 20,805 38,562

86,397 90,004 118,962 295,363

Term
loans 
$’000

Mortgages 
$’000

Large
Corporate 

Loans 
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2012
Past due up to 30 days 67,811 71,519 42,501 181,831
Past due 30 – 60 days 18,530 7,148 13,226 38,904
Past due 60 – 90 days 10,963 8,266 6,120 25,349

97,304 86,933 61,847 246,084
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Credit risk…continued

Loans and advances…continued 

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class are as follows: 

Overdrafts
$’000

Term
Loans 
$’000

Mortgages
$’000

Large
Corporate 

Loans 
$’000

Total 
$’000

31 December 2013 30,990 98,261 61,209 497,863 688,323

31 December 2012 45,110 88,621 58,457 481,827 674,015

Repossessed collateral
At the end of 2013 and 2012 the value of repossessed collateral held by the Group was immaterial.

Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills 
The table below presents an analysis of debt securities and other eligible bills by rating agency designation at 
31 December 2013 and 2012, based on Standard & Poor’s and Caricris ratings: 

Financial
assets held
for trading 

$’000

Investment
Securities

$’000

Pledged 
Assets
$’000

Loans and
Receivables- 

bonds
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013
AA- to AA+ – 137,381 – – 137,381
A- to A+ – 69,970 – – 69,970
Lower than A- 785 150,905 – – 151,690
Unrated 13,075 148,134 41,026 10,033 212,268

13,860 506,390 41,026 10,033 571,309

At 31 December 2012
AA- to AA+ 453 124,562 – – 125,015
A- to A+ 443 60,226 – – 60,669
Lower than A- 26,494 156,794 2,416 – 185,704
Unrated 739 153,617 49,477 10,033 213,866

28,129 495,199 51,893 10,033 585,254

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Concentrations of risks of financial assets with credit exposure

(a) Geographical sectors 
The Group operates primarily in Saint Lucia and St. Vincent. Based on the country of domicile of its 
counterparties, exposure to credit risk is concentrated in these locations, except for investments which have
other exposures, primarily in the United States of America.

(b) Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at gross amounts without taking into account any 
collateral held or other credit support by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Concentrations of risks of financial assets with credit exposure

(a) Geographical sectors 
The Group operates primarily in Saint Lucia and St. Vincent. Based on the country of domicile of its 
counterparties, exposure to credit risk is concentrated in these locations, except for investments which have
other exposures, primarily in the United States of America.

(b) Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at gross amounts without taking into account any 
collateral held or other credit support by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Market risk
The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions 
in interest rate and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and 
changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign 
exchange rates and equity prices. The Group’s exposure to market risks arises from its non-trading and trading
portfolios. Senior management of the Group monitors and manages market through the Asset Liability 
Committee which advises on financial risks and assigns risk limits for the Group.   

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Group’s retail and commercial 
banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of equity risks arising from the Group’s 
available-for-sale investments.

Currency risk
The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its 
financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and 
in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. The Group’s exposure to 
currency risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United States 
dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been 
formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1974. The following table summarises the Group’s exposure to 
foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December. 
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East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

50

3 Financial risk management…continued 

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on exposure to the effects of 
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both fair value and cash flows risks. Interest 
margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected 
movements arise. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may
be undertaken. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Interest rate risk…continued
The table below summarises the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments 
not carried at fair value through profit or loss: 

EC$
%

US$
%

EURO
%

GBP
%

CAD
%

AUD
%

BDS
%

At 31 December 2013

Assets
Treasury bills 4.4 – – – – – –
Deposits with other banks 2.9 1.7 1.5 0.5 1.0 2.9 4.2
Loans and receivables:
- loans and advances to customers 8.3 5.1 0.6 – – – –
- bonds 7.5 – – – – – –

Investment securities:
- held-to-maturity 4.4 7.9 – – – – –
- available-for-sale 4.0 3.2 2.9 3.6 – 5.2 –
Financial instruments – pledged 6.8 6.8 – – – – –

Liabilities
Due to customers 3.3 2.3 0.6 0.2 0.4 1.6 –
Deposits with non-bank financial 
institution
Other fund raising instruments 4.0 3.7 – – – – –
Borrowings 6.9 3.6 – – – – –

EC$
%

US$
%

EURO
%

GBP
%

CAD
%

AUD
%

BDS
%

At 31 December 2012

Assets
Treasury bills 5.6 – – – – – –
Deposits with other banks 3.7 0.5 1.5 1.8 1.0 – –
Loans and receivables:
- loans and advances to customers 9.0 3.1 – – – – –
- bonds 7.5 – – – – – –

Investment securities:
- held-to-maturity 4.7 8.2 – – – – –
- available-for-sale 5.9 6.1 3.0 4.0 – 6.1 –
Financial instruments – pledged 7.2 6.6 – – – – –

Liabilities
Due to customers 3.5 1.7 0.2 0.4 – – –
Deposits with non-bank financial 
institution 4.1 4.2 – – – – –
Other fund raising instruments 4.5 4.2 – – – – –
Borrowings 6.1 3.5 – – – – –

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Interest rate risk…continued
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At 31 December 
2013 if variable interest rates had been 0.5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit 
for the year would have been $9,538 (2012 – $6,364) higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
income on variable rate loans. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of 
customer deposits being withdrawn, payment of cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other 
cash outflows.

The Group is exposed to daily cash calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current 
accounts, maturing deposits, loan draw-downs, and guarantees. The Group does not maintain cash resources to 
meet all of these needs, as experience shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be 
predicted with a high level of certainty. The Board of Directors sets limits on the minimum proportion of 
maturing funds available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of interbank and other borrowing 
facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. 

Liquidity risk management process 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the contractual maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks to be completely matched as 
transacted business is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially 
enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of losses.

The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-
bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure 
to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than 
the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under 
the agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being 
funded. 

Funding approach 
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, 
provider, product and term. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Interest rate risk…continued
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At 31 December 
2013 if variable interest rates had been 0.5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit 
for the year would have been $9,538 (2012 – $6,364) higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
income on variable rate loans. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of 
customer deposits being withdrawn, payment of cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other 
cash outflows.

The Group is exposed to daily cash calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current 
accounts, maturing deposits, loan draw-downs, and guarantees. The Group does not maintain cash resources to 
meet all of these needs, as experience shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be 
predicted with a high level of certainty. The Board of Directors sets limits on the minimum proportion of 
maturing funds available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of interbank and other borrowing 
facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. 

Liquidity risk management process 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the contractual maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks to be completely matched as 
transacted business is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially 
enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of losses.

The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-
bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure 
to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than 
the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under 
the agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being 
funded. 

Funding approach 
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, 
provider, product and term. 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Liquidity risk…continued 

Non-derivative cashflows
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities and 
assets held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the statement of financial 
position date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the 
Group manages the liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.

Up to
1 month

$’000

1 to 3 
months

$’000

3 to 12 
months

$’000

1 to 5 
years 
$’000

Over 5 
years 
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013

Deposits from banks 41,326 36,747 40,120 – – 118,193
Due to customers 2,367,073 241,151 435,847 36,144 17,450 3,097,665
Repurchase agreements – – – 26,648 61 26,709
Borrowings 26,533 4,480 29,754 120,281 132,994 314,042
Due to reinsurers – 1,284 – – – 1,284
Insurance claims – – 8,227 – – 8,227
Preference shares – – – – 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities 41,165 4,367 5,579 501 2,484 54,096

Total financial liabilities 2,476,097 288,029 519,527 183,574 157,139 3,624,366

Financial Assets
At 31 December 2013

Cash and balances with 
Central Bank 166,613 – – – – 166,613
Treasury bills 6,000 – – – – 6,000
Deposits with other banks 803,353 58,607 9,200 871,160
Financial assets held for 
trading

224 5,802 5,755 8,865 20,646

Deposits with non-bank 
financial institutions

1,605 – – – – 1,605

Originated loans: – – 750 3,000 10,719 14,469
loans and advances to 
customers

123,946 67,058 256,425 1,081,188 1,238,909 2,767,526

– bonds
Financial instruments-Pledged 
Assets

– – 19,854 24,332 – 44,186

Investment securities:
– held-to-maturity 13,084 102 11,186 26,887 11,911 63,170
– available-for-sale 63,999 5,079 35,256 265,842 183,664 553,840
Reinsurance assets – 4323 – – – 4,323
Due from brokers and policy
holders – 2,352 – – – 2,352
Other Assets 13,313 – 33,556 – – 46,869
Total financial assets held
for managing liquidity 1,192,137 137,521 372,029 1,407,004 1,454,068 4,562,759

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Liquidity risk…continued 

Non-derivative cashflows…continued

Up to
1 month 

$’000

1 to 3 
months

$’000

3 to 12 
months

$’000

1 to 5 
years 
$’000

Over 5 
years
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013
Deposits from banks 32,994 23,948 47,162 – – 104,104
Due to customers 1,897,117 301,173 526,181 22,200 17,510 2,764,181
Other funding instruments 1,542 8,266 19,132 162 – 29,102
Borrowings 5,180 646 47,406 79,561 40,266 173,059
Due to reinsurers – 1,165 – – – 1,165
Insurance claims – – 9,943 – – 9,943
Preference shares – – – – 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities 24,076 5,924 3,615 2,462 2,484 38,561

Total financial liabilities 1,960,909 341,122 653,439 104,385 64,410 3,124,265

At 31 December 2013
Cash and balances with Central 
Bank 196,889 – – – – 196,889
Treasury bills – – 4,742 – – 4,742
Deposits with other banks 396,096 78,846 18,508 493,450
Financial assets held for trading 41 10,529 14,370 7,861 32,801
Deposits with non-bank financial 
institutions

1,340 – – – – 1,340

Originated loans: – – 750 3,000 11,502 15,252
loans and advances to customers 326,423 106,785 313,964 950,370 1,181,909 2,879,451

– bonds
Financial instruments pledged 
assets

– – 3,222 44,193 19,509 66,924

Investment securities:
– held-to-maturity 11,070 3,811 13,406 35,111 28,089 91,487
– available-for-sale 36,138 9,439 32,961 210,128 295,991 584,657

Reinsurance assets – 4,511 – – - 4,511
Due from brokers and policy 
holders – 2,013 – – – 2,013
Other assets 3,676 – 37,191 – – 40,867

Total financial assets held
for managing liquidity 971,673 205,405 435,273 1,257,172 1,544,861 4,414,384
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Liquidity risk…continued 

Non-derivative cashflows…continued

Up to
1 month 

$’000

1 to 3 
months

$’000

3 to 12 
months

$’000

1 to 5 
years 
$’000

Over 5 
years
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013
Deposits from banks 32,994 23,948 47,162 – – 104,104
Due to customers 1,897,117 301,173 526,181 22,200 17,510 2,764,181
Other funding instruments 1,542 8,266 19,132 162 – 29,102
Borrowings 5,180 646 47,406 79,561 40,266 173,059
Due to reinsurers – 1,165 – – – 1,165
Insurance claims – – 9,943 – – 9,943
Preference shares – – – – 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities 24,076 5,924 3,615 2,462 2,484 38,561

Total financial liabilities 1,960,909 341,122 653,439 104,385 64,410 3,124,265

At 31 December 2013
Cash and balances with Central 
Bank 196,889 – – – – 196,889
Treasury bills – – 4,742 – – 4,742
Deposits with other banks 396,096 78,846 18,508 493,450
Financial assets held for trading 41 10,529 14,370 7,861 32,801
Deposits with non-bank financial 
institutions

1,340 – – – – 1,340

Originated loans: – – 750 3,000 11,502 15,252
loans and advances to customers 326,423 106,785 313,964 950,370 1,181,909 2,879,451

– bonds
Financial instruments pledged 
assets

– – 3,222 44,193 19,509 66,924

Investment securities:
– held-to-maturity 11,070 3,811 13,406 35,111 28,089 91,487
– available-for-sale 36,138 9,439 32,961 210,128 295,991 584,657

Reinsurance assets – 4,511 – – - 4,511
Due from brokers and policy 
holders – 2,013 – – – 2,013
Other assets 3,676 – 37,191 – – 40,867

Total financial assets held
for managing liquidity 971,673 205,405 435,273 1,257,172 1,544,861 4,414,384
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Liquidity risk…continued 
Assets held for managing liquidity risk 
The Group holds a diversified portfolio of cash and investment securities to support payment obligations. 

The Group’s assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise cash and balances with central banks, certificates 
of deposit, government bonds that are readily acceptable in repurchase agreements, treasury and other eligible 
bills, loans and advances to financial institutions, loans and advances to customers and other items in the 
course of collection.  

The Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling investment securities and 
accessing additional funding sources.

Off-statement of financial position items

(a) Loan commitments 
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Group’s off-statement of financial position financial instruments that 
commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 45), are summarised in the table below.

(b) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities

Financial guarantees (Note 45) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity date. 

<1 Year
$’000

2-5 Years
$’000

Total
$’000

As at 31 December 2013

Loan commitments 88,896 – 88,896
Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 33,672 – 33,672

Total 122,568 – 122,568

At 31 December 2012

Loan commitments 132,157 6,784 138,941
Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 40,295 – 40,295

Total 172,452 6,784 179,236

(c)Capital commitments 
Capital commitments are due within one year see (Note 47) 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between 
knowledgeable willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market 
value, if one exists. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial 
instruments. 

The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and due to other 
banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature. The fair value of off-
statement of financial position commitments are also assumed to approximate the amounts disclosed in Note 
45 due to their short term nature.  

Due to customers 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is 
the amount repayable on demand.  Deposits payable on a fixed date at rates which reflect market conditions 
and are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying value.

Investment securities
Investment securities include interest bearing debt and equity securities held to maturity and available-for-sale.
Assets classified for sale are measured at fair value based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. 
Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with 
similar credit maturity and yield characteristics. 

Loans and advances 
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and advances 
represent the discounted amount of estimated future cashflows expected to be received. Expected cashflows are 
discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not 
presented on the Group’s statement of financial position at their fair value.  

Carrying value Fair value
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers
− Large Corporate loans 659,448 666,751 719,938 750,392
− Term loans 429,441 472,891 360,422 442,577
− Mortgages 596,469 571,408 410,631 392,235
− Overdrafts 183,370 157,244 198,856 188,003
Held to maturity 53,756 69,281 56,786 74,516

Financial liabilities
Due to customers 3,046,471 2,696,369 3,046,581 2,746,133
Borrowings 213,125 203,913 160,305 148,412
Repurchase agreements 26,328 28,918 26,385 28,907

The value of regional bonds classified as loans and receivables with evidence of open market trades at par plus 
accrued interest is deemed to approximate fair value.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between 
knowledgeable willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market 
value, if one exists. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial 
instruments. 

The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and due to other 
banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature. The fair value of off-
statement of financial position commitments are also assumed to approximate the amounts disclosed in Note 
45 due to their short term nature.  

Due to customers 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is 
the amount repayable on demand.  Deposits payable on a fixed date at rates which reflect market conditions 
and are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying value.

Investment securities
Investment securities include interest bearing debt and equity securities held to maturity and available-for-sale.
Assets classified for sale are measured at fair value based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. 
Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with 
similar credit maturity and yield characteristics. 

Loans and advances 
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and advances 
represent the discounted amount of estimated future cashflows expected to be received. Expected cashflows are 
discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not 
presented on the Group’s statement of financial position at their fair value.  

Carrying value Fair value
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers
− Large Corporate loans 659,448 666,751 719,938 750,392
− Term loans 429,441 472,891 360,422 442,577
− Mortgages 596,469 571,408 410,631 392,235
− Overdrafts 183,370 157,244 198,856 188,003
Held to maturity 53,756 69,281 56,786 74,516

Financial liabilities
Due to customers 3,046,471 2,696,369 3,046,581 2,746,133
Borrowings 213,125 203,913 160,305 148,412
Repurchase agreements 26,328 28,918 26,385 28,907

The value of regional bonds classified as loans and receivables with evidence of open market trades at par plus 
accrued interest is deemed to approximate fair value.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques 
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; 
unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the 
following fair value hierarchy: 

- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes 
listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges such as Luxembourg, New York and Trinidad 
and Tobago. 

- Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

- Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable 
components. 

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and 
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued 

Fair value hierarchy…continued 

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

31 December 2013

Financial assets held for trading
- debt securities – 13,636 46 13,682
- equity securities 178 – – 178

Financial assets  available-for-sale
- debt securities – 433,681 18,953 452,634
- equity securities 11,182 2,038 2,856 16,076

Financial instruments –pledged assets – 41,026 – 41,026

Total  financial assets 11,360 490,381 21,855 523,596

31 December 2012

Financial assets held for trading
- debt securities – 26,676 41 26,717
- equity securities 1,412 – – 1,412

Financial assets  available-for-sale
- debt securities – 418,536 7,099 425,635
- equity securities – 2,189 2,857 5,046

Financial instruments –pledged assets – 51,893 – 51,893

Total financial assets 1,412 499,294 9,997 510,703

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included 
in Level 1. Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily DAX, FTSE 100 and Dow Jones debt secuirites
classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
fixed income securities) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the 
use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If 
all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 
Level 3.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued 

Fair value hierarchy…continued 

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

31 December 2013

Financial assets held for trading
- debt securities – 13,636 46 13,682
- equity securities 178 – – 178

Financial assets  available-for-sale
- debt securities – 433,681 18,953 452,634
- equity securities 11,182 2,038 2,856 16,076

Financial instruments –pledged assets – 41,026 – 41,026

Total  financial assets 11,360 490,381 21,855 523,596

31 December 2012

Financial assets held for trading
- debt securities – 26,676 41 26,717
- equity securities 1,412 – – 1,412

Financial assets  available-for-sale
- debt securities – 418,536 7,099 425,635
- equity securities – 2,189 2,857 5,046

Financial instruments –pledged assets – 51,893 – 51,893

Total financial assets 1,412 499,294 9,997 510,703

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included 
in Level 1. Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily DAX, FTSE 100 and Dow Jones debt secuirites
classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
fixed income securities) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the 
use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If 
all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 
Level 3.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued 

Fair value hierarchy…continued
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

• Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
• Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 

financial instruments.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2013 and 
2012. 

Financial assets
held for trading Available-for-Sale

Debt
securities

$’000

Debt
securities

$’000

Equity 
securities

$’000
Total 
$’000

31 December 2013

At beginning of year 41 7,099 2,857 9,997
Purchases 3 13,335 – 13,338
Currency revaluation 2 – – 2
Settlement – (1,482) – (1,482)

At end of year 46 18,952 2,857 21,855

There were no gains or losses for the period included in the statement of income or comprehensive income for 
assets held at 31 December.

Financial assets
held for trading Available-for-Sale

Debt
securities

$’000

Debt
securities

$’000

Equity 
securities Total 

$’000
31 December 2012

At beginning of year 40 6,910 2,857 9,807
Purchases 1 189 – 190

At end of year
4131 December 2012 7,099 2,857 9,997
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of 
statement of financial position, are:

• To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the entities 
within the Group operate; 

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Group’s management, employing 
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the East Caribbean Central Bank the Authority for 
supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Authority on a quarterly basis. 

The Authority requires each bank or banking group to hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital to the 
risk-weighted asset (the ‘Basel capital adequacy ratio’) at or above the internationally agreed minimum of 8%. 

The Group’s regulatory capital as managed by its Treasury is divided into two tiers: 

• Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), minority interests arising on 
consolidation from interests in permanent equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations 
of retained earnings. The book value of goodwill is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

• Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances, unrealised gains 
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available-for-sale and fixed asset revaluation 
reserves (limited to 20% on Tier 1 capital).

Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the regulatory capital.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the 
nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and 
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-
statement of financial position exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the 
potential losses.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of 
statement of financial position, are:

• To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the entities 
within the Group operate; 

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Group’s management, employing 
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the East Caribbean Central Bank the Authority for 
supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Authority on a quarterly basis. 

The Authority requires each bank or banking group to hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital to the 
risk-weighted asset (the ‘Basel capital adequacy ratio’) at or above the internationally agreed minimum of 8%. 

The Group’s regulatory capital as managed by its Treasury is divided into two tiers: 

• Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), minority interests arising on 
consolidation from interests in permanent equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations 
of retained earnings. The book value of goodwill is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

• Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances, unrealised gains 
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available-for-sale and fixed asset revaluation 
reserves (limited to 20% on Tier 1 capital).

Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the regulatory capital.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the 
nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and 
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-
statement of financial position exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the 
potential losses.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Capital management…continued
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for the years 
ended 31 December. During those two years, the Group complied with all of the externally imposed capital 
requirements to which they are subject.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Tier 1 capital
Share capital 170,081 170,081
Reserves 154,297 150,858
Accumulated deficit (123,376) (119,956)
Non-controlling interest 50,082 46,668

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 251,084 247,651

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserve 13,855 13,855
Redeemable preference shares 4,150 4,150
Unrealised loss on available-for-sale investments (5,346) 12,318
Collective impairment allowance 21,067 17,488

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital 33,726 47,811

Less investments in associates (9,612) (8,031)

Total regulatory capital 274,992 288,010

Risk-weighted assets:
On-statement of financial position 2,223,154 2,170,976
Off-statement of financial position 27,504 39,155

Total risk-weighted assets 2,251,108 2,210,131

Basel capital adequacy ratio 12% 13%

Fiduciary activities
The Group provides investment management and advisory services to third parties, which involve the Group 
making allocation and purchase and sale decisions in relation to a wide range of financial instruments. Those 
assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these consolidated financial statements. Some of 
these arrangements involve the Group accepting targets for benchmark levels of returns for the assets under the 
Group’s care. At the statement of financial position date, the Group had financial assets under administration 
amounting to $45,949 (2012 – $47,671).

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

66

3 Financial risk management…continued 

Insurance risk
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of 
the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore 
unpredictable. 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the 
principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefits payments 
exceeds the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because of the frequency or severity 
of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and the 
amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the estimate established.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar contracts, the smaller the relative variability about the 
expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across the board 
by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting strategy to 
diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large 
population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, 
geographic location and type of industry covered. 

General insurance contracts

(a) Frequency and severity of claims
For general insurance contracts, climatic changes give rise to more frequent and severe extreme weather events 
(for example, river flooding, hurricanes, etc.) and their consequences (for example, subsidence claims).

The Group has the right to re-price the risk on renewal. It also has the ability to impose deductibles and reject 
fraudulent claims. These contracts are underwritten by reference to the commercial replacement value of the 
properties and contents insured, and claim payments limits are always included to cap the amount payable on 
occurrence of the insured event. Cost of rebuilding properties, of replacement indemnity for contents and time 
taken to restart operations for business interruption are the key factors that influence the level of claims under 
these policies. The greatest likelihood of significant losses on these contracts arises from storm or flood 
damage. The Group has reinsurance cover for such damage to limit losses.

General insurance contracts are subdivided into four risk groups: fire, business interruption, weather and 
property damage and theft. The Group does not underwrite property insurance contracts outside of Saint Lucia. 

(b) Source of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 
The development of large losses/catastrophes is analysed separately. The Group’s estimation process reflects 
all the factors that influence the amount and timing of cash flows from these contracts. The shorter settlement 
period for these claims allows the Group to achieve a higher certainty about the estimated cost of claims.
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3 Financial risk management…continued 

Insurance risk
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of 
the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore 
unpredictable. 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the 
principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefits payments 
exceeds the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because of the frequency or severity 
of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and the 
amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the estimate established.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar contracts, the smaller the relative variability about the 
expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across the board 
by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting strategy to 
diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large 
population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, 
geographic location and type of industry covered. 

General insurance contracts

(a) Frequency and severity of claims
For general insurance contracts, climatic changes give rise to more frequent and severe extreme weather events 
(for example, river flooding, hurricanes, etc.) and their consequences (for example, subsidence claims).

The Group has the right to re-price the risk on renewal. It also has the ability to impose deductibles and reject 
fraudulent claims. These contracts are underwritten by reference to the commercial replacement value of the 
properties and contents insured, and claim payments limits are always included to cap the amount payable on 
occurrence of the insured event. Cost of rebuilding properties, of replacement indemnity for contents and time 
taken to restart operations for business interruption are the key factors that influence the level of claims under 
these policies. The greatest likelihood of significant losses on these contracts arises from storm or flood 
damage. The Group has reinsurance cover for such damage to limit losses.

General insurance contracts are subdivided into four risk groups: fire, business interruption, weather and 
property damage and theft. The Group does not underwrite property insurance contracts outside of Saint Lucia. 

(b) Source of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 
The development of large losses/catastrophes is analysed separately. The Group’s estimation process reflects 
all the factors that influence the amount and timing of cash flows from these contracts. The shorter settlement 
period for these claims allows the Group to achieve a higher certainty about the estimated cost of claims.
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4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Going Concern 
The Group’s management is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. 
The Group’s management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon its 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

Impairment losses on loans and advances 
The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least annually. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Group makes 
judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual 
loan in that portfolio. To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5%, the 
provision would be estimated at $16,078  ($8,179) (2012 – 14,225/($6,499) lower or higher. 

Impairment of assets carried at fair value
The Group determines that available-for-sale and held for trading equity investments are impaired when there 
has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is 
significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among other factors, 
the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of 
deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology and 
operational and financing cash flows. 

The Group individually assesses available-for-sale debt securities for objective evidence of impairment. If an 
impaired instrument has been renegotiated, interest continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount of 
the asset and is recorded as part of “interest income”. If the fair value of the instrument increases in a subsequent 
year, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of income.

Held-to-maturity investments
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. 
In making this judgement, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If 
the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances – for example, 
selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-
for-sale. The investments would therefore be measured at carrying value not amortised cost. If the entire held-to-
maturity investments are tainted, the carrying value would increase by $4,837 (2012 – $4,767) with a 
corresponding entry in the fair value reserve in equity. 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

68

4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies...continued

Fair value of financial instruments
For financial instruments where recorded current market transactions or observable market data are not available 
at fair value using valuation techniques, fair value is determined using a valuation model that has been tested 
against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the group’s best estimates of the most appropriate 
model assumptions.  

Deferred taxes
In calculating the provision for deferred taxation, management uses judgment to determine the possibility that 
future taxable profits will be available to facilitate utilization of temporary tax differences which may arise. 

Revaluation of land and buildings and investment property 
The Group measures its land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive income. The Group engages independent valuation specialists to determine fair 
value of its land and buildings. The valuer uses judgment in the application of valuation techniques such as 
replacement cost, capitalization of potential rentals and the market price of comparable properties, as applicable 
in each case.  

Retirement benefits
The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying 
amount of pension obligations. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include 
the discount rate. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest 
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required 
to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest 
rates of Government that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms 
to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Other key assumptions for pension 
obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Were the discount rate used to increase/(decrease) by 
1% from management’s estimates, the defined benefit obligation for pension benefits would be an estimated 
$5,680 lower or $8,258 higher. 

Corporate income taxes 
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions. The deferred tax assets recognised at 31 December 2013 have been 
based on future profitability assumptions over a five year horizon. In the event of changes to these profitability 
assumptions, the tax assets recognised may be adjusted.



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 2013 107n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

68

4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies...continued

Fair value of financial instruments
For financial instruments where recorded current market transactions or observable market data are not available 
at fair value using valuation techniques, fair value is determined using a valuation model that has been tested 
against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the group’s best estimates of the most appropriate 
model assumptions.  

Deferred taxes
In calculating the provision for deferred taxation, management uses judgment to determine the possibility that 
future taxable profits will be available to facilitate utilization of temporary tax differences which may arise. 

Revaluation of land and buildings and investment property 
The Group measures its land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive income. The Group engages independent valuation specialists to determine fair 
value of its land and buildings. The valuer uses judgment in the application of valuation techniques such as 
replacement cost, capitalization of potential rentals and the market price of comparable properties, as applicable 
in each case.  

Retirement benefits
The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying 
amount of pension obligations. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include 
the discount rate. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest 
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required 
to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest 
rates of Government that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms 
to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Other key assumptions for pension 
obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Were the discount rate used to increase/(decrease) by 
1% from management’s estimates, the defined benefit obligation for pension benefits would be an estimated 
$5,680 lower or $8,258 higher. 

Corporate income taxes 
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions. The deferred tax assets recognised at 31 December 2013 have been 
based on future profitability assumptions over a five year horizon. In the event of changes to these profitability 
assumptions, the tax assets recognised may be adjusted.
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4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies …continued 

On 17 November 2011, the Inland Revenue Department issued a Notice of Reassessment to the Bank of Saint 
Lucia Limited for Corporate Income Tax, assessing tax charges and penalties of $1,975 for the 2010 income 
year. This differs from the tax credit of $4,521computed by the Bank. The difference relates primarily to 
varying interpretations of the Income Tax Act in respect of the deduction for tax purposes of specific provisions 
for development loan losses. The net result is a decline in the deferred tax asset of $6,496. 

The Bank raised a formal objection to the reassessment in December 2011 which was rejected by the Inland 
Revenue department in March 2012. Following from this, in April 2012, the Bank lodged an Appeal with the 
Appeal Commissioners pursuant to Section 109 (1) of the Income Tax Act Cap 15.02. 

The Bank has obtained legal advice that the reassessment is based on a fundamental misinterpretation of the 
relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act.

Adjustments arising, if any, will be reflected in the period in which agreement is reached. 

5 Segment analysis 

In the financial year 2012 and 2011, segment reporting by the Group was prepared in accordance with IFRS 8, 
‘Operating segments’.

Following the management approach of IFRS 8, operating segments are reported in accordance with the 
internal reporting provided to the Company’s Board of Directors (the chief operating decision-maker), which is 
responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and assessing their performance.

The Group has three operating segments which meet the definition of reportable segment under IFRS 8. They 
comprise:

- Banking – incorporating private banking services, private customer current accounts, savings, deposits, 
investment savings products, custody, credit and debit cards, consumer loans and mortgages, overdrafts, 
foreign currency financial instruments trading, structured financing, corporate leasing, and merger and 
acquisitions advice.

- Offshore banking incorporating International banking including International corporate and International 
personal banking, and a wide range of other services to International clients. 

- Other group operations comprise General Insurance, Property development & management and Capital 
market activities/Merchant Banking none of which constitutes a separately reportable segment.

The Group’s segment operations are all financial with a majority of revenues being derived from interest and 
the Company’s Board of Directors relies primarily on net interest revenue to assess the performance of the 
segment, the total interest income and expense for all reportable segments is presented on a net basis.
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5 Segment analysis...continued

The revenue from external parties reported to the Company’s Board of Directors is measured in a manner 
consistent with that in the consolidated statement of income.

Revenue-from external customer is recorded as such and can be directly traced to each business segment.

The Group’s management reporting is based on a measure of operating profit comprising net interest income, 
loan impairment charges, net fee and commission income, other income and non-interest expenses. This 
measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as 
restructuring costs, legal expenses and goodwill impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, 
non-recurring event. As the Company’s Board of Directors reviews operating profit, the results of discontinued 
operations are not included in the measure of operating profit. 

The information provided about each segment is based on the internal reports about segment profit or loss, 
assets and other information, which are regularly reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors. 

Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

The Bank operates in primarily two jurisdictions. Net interest income is $60,136 and $26,079 for Saint Lucia
and St. Vincent, respectively.

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amount to 10% or more 
of the Group’s revenue. 
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5 Segment analysis…continued

Banking
$

Offshore
$

Other
$

Total 
$

At 31 December 2013
Net interest income 80,556 10,234 (5,011) 85,779
Net fee and commission income 26,940 4,199 2,539 33,678
Other income 27,230 2,183 10,057 39,470
Impairment charge loans and investments (39,954) – – (39,954)
Depreciation and amortization (5,535) (51) (1,927) (7,513)
Operating expenses (89,022) (9,501) (8,043) (106,566)

Profit before taxation 215 7,064 (2,385) 4,894

Dividends on preference shares – – (291) (291)
Income tax (1,547) – (892) (2,439)

(Loss) /profit for the year (1,332) 7,064 (3,568) 2,164

Total assets 2,739,072 1,005,084 393,563 4,137,719
Total liabilities 2,498,987 970,416 141,937 3,611,340

At 31 December 2012
Net interest income 86,215 9,319 (2,367) 93,167
Net fee and commission income 23,252 2,829 2,179 28,260
Other income 13,611 3,236 36,319 53,166
Impairment charge loans,  investments and 
property (151,552) – (10,410) (161,962)
Depreciation and amortization (5,065) (46) (2,071) (7,182)
Operating expenses (87,879) (8,956) (21,950) (118,785)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (121,418) 6,382 1,700 (113,336)

Dividends on preference shares – – (291) (291)
Income tax (1,891) – (621) (2,512)

(Loss)/profit for the year (123,309) 6,382 788 (116,139)

Attributable to:
- Equity holders of the Company (125,768) 6,382 747 (118,639)
- Non-controlling interests 2,459 – 41 2,500

(Loss)/profit  for the year (123,309) 6,382 788 (116,139)

Total assets 2,755,464 655,060 407,516 3,818,040
Total liabilities 2,502,654 621,881 148,248 3,272,783
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5 Segment analysis…continued 

Reconciliation of segment results of operations to consolidated results of operations:

Total 
Management 

Reporting
$’000

Consolidation 
entries

$’000
Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013
Net interest income 85,780 116 85,896
Net fee and commission income 33,678 (458) 33,220
Other income 39,470 (5,003) 34,467
Impairment charge loans, investments and property (39,954) – (39,954)
Depreciation and amortisation (7,513) (2,120) (9,633)
Operating expenses (106,567) 7,129 (99,422)

Profit before tax 4,894 (336) 4,558

Dividends on preference shares (291) (291)
Share profit of associates – 1,581 1,581
Income tax expense (2,439) – (2,439)

Profit for the year 2,164 1,245 3,409

Assets 4,137,719 (413,385) 3,724,334
Liabilities 3,611,340 (147,717) 3,463,623

At 31 December 2012
Net interest income 93,167 (39) 93,128
Net fee and commission income 28,260 (382) 27,878
Other income 53,166 (30,218) 22,948
Impairment charge loans, investments and property (161,962) – (161,962)
Depreciation and amortisation (7,182) (2,349) (9,531)
Operating expenses (118,785) 25,270 (93,515)

Loss before tax (113,336) (7,718) (121,054)

Dividends on preference shares (291) – (291)
Share profit of associates, net – 1,482 1,482
Income tax expense (2,512) (576) (3,088)

Loss for the year (116,139) (6,812) (122,951)

Assets 3,818,040 (455,297) 3,362,743
Liabilities 3,272,783 (186,982) 3,085,801
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5 Segment analysis…continued 
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6 Cash and balances with Central Bank
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Cash in hand 42,691 57,039
Balances with Central Bank other than  mandatory deposits (621) 13,722

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 44) 42,070 70,761
Mandatory deposits with Central Bank 124,543 126,128

166,613 196,889

Pursuant to Section 17 of the Banking Act of St. Lucia No.34 of 2006, the Banking institutions are required to 
maintain in cash and deposits with the Central Bank reserve balances in relation to the deposit liabilities of the 
institution. 

Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Banking institutions’ day-to-day operations. The 
balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

7 Treasury bills
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

More than 90 days to maturity 5,981 4,633

5,981 4,633

Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Governments of Saint Lucia and Saint Vincent. The weighted 
average effective interest rate at 31 December 2013 was 4.41 % (2012 – 5.60%).

8 Deposits with other banks
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Items in the course of collection 18,122 14,851
Placements with other banks 135,346 41,427
Interest bearing deposits 692,069 386,574

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 44) 845,537 442,852

The weighted average effective interest rate of interest-bearing deposits at 31 December 2013 is 0.81 %  
(2012 – 1.7%).  
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9 Financial assets held for trading
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Debt securities – listed 26,676
                    – unlisted 13,682 41

Equity securities-listed 178 1,412

13,860 28,129

Trading financial assets were acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term and would otherwise have 
been classified as held-to-maturity investments. The weighted average interest rate earned on held-for-trading 
investments debt securities was 6.64% (2012 – 5.91%).

10 Deposits with non-bank financial institutions
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Interest bearing deposits
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 44) 1,605 1,340

The weighted average effective interest rate in respect of interest-bearing deposits at 31 December 2013 was 
NIL (2012 – 0%-3%). Interest rate on deposits depends on the value of deposits held.  

11 Loans and advances to customers 
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Large corporate loans 828,351 829,219
Term loans 454,508 495,703
Mortgage loans 606,479 581,167
Overdrafts 202,392 172,366

Gross 2,091,730 2,078,455

Less allowance for impairment losses on loans and 
advances (Note 12) (223,002) (210,161)

Net 1,868,728 1,868,294

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current 357,409 324,177
Non-current 1,511,319 1,544,117

1,868,728 1,868,294

The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans stated at amortised cost at 31 December 2013 
was 7.45% (2012 – 7.34%) and productive overdrafts stated at amortised cost were 13.10% (2012 – 11.35%).
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12 Allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances

Corporate
loans 
$’000

Term
loans 
$’000

Mortgage
loans 
$’000

Overdrafts
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 31 December 2013

At beginning of year 162,468 22,811 9,760 15,122 210,161
Written off during the year (24,901) (1,576) 352 (567) (26,692)
Provisions made during the year 31,336 3,832 (102) 4,467 39,533

At end of year 168,903 25,067 10,010 19,022 223,002

At 31 December 2012

At beginning of year 54,533 14,621 8,958 3,588 81,700
Written off during the year (239) (443) (559) (254) (1,495)
Provisions made during the year 108,174 8,634 1,360 11,788 129,956

At  end of year 162,468 22,812 9,759 15,122 210,161

Included in provisions for loan losses within the consolidated statement of income are recoveries of $1,430
(2012 – $2,819). 

13 Loans and receivables – bonds

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Non- current
Government bonds 10,033 10,033

Government bonds are purchased from and issued directly by the Government of St. Vincent and the 
Grenadines. The weighted average effective interest rate at 31 December 2012 in respect of Government 
bonds at amortised cost was 7.50% (2012 – 7.50%).
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14 Investment securities

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Securities held-to-maturity
Debt securities at amortised cost
- Listed 16,538 18,389
- Unlisted 42,730 55,916

Total securities – held to maturity 59,268 74,305

Less provision for impairment (5,512) (4,741)

53,756 69,564

Securities available-for-sale
Debt securities at fair value
- Listed 424,625 409,427
- Unlisted 30,837 33,318

455,462 442,745
Equity securities
- Listed 13,220 1,029
- Unlisted 2,856 4,017

Total securities – available-for-sale 471,538 447,791

Less provision for impairment (2,828) (17,110)

468,710 430,681

Total investment securities 522,466 500,245

Current 65,212 78,230
Non-current 457,254 422,015

522,466 500,245

The weighted average effective interest rate on held-to-maturity securities at amortised cost at 31 December 
2013 was 5.79% (2012 – 6.53%).

The weighted average effective interest rate on available-for-sale securities at fair value at 31 December 2013 
was 4.39% (2012 – 5.41%).
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14 Investment securities…continued

Held to 
maturity

$’000

Available-
for-sale

$’000

Held for
trading

$’000

Loans and 
receivables 

– bonds
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 1 January 2013 69,564 430,681 28,129 10,033 538,407

Exchange differences on monetary assets (183) 433 (8) – 242
Additions 6,894 339,105 9,134 – 355,133
Disposals (sale and redemption) (21,748) (297,957) (22,896) – (342,601)
Provision for loss on investment (771) – – – (771)
Realised gains on disposals – 14,202 – – 14,202
Losses from changes in fair value – (17,755) (499) – (18,253)

At 31 December 2013 53,756 468,710 13,860 10,033 546,359

At 1 January 2012 87,731 342,820 7,206 13,081 450,838

Exchange differences on monetary assets – 1,138 13 – 1,151
Additions 6,433 410,281 46,133 33 462,880
Disposals (sale and redemption) (21,728) (322,491) (26,583) (3,081) (373,883)
Provision for loss on investment (2,872) (16,235) – – (19,107)
Realised gains on disposals – (1,620) – – (1,620)
Gains from changes in fair value – 16,788 1,360 – 18,148

At 31 December 2012 69,564 430,681 28,129 10,033 538,407

15 Financial instruments - pledged assets and repurchase agreements

The following assets are pledged against certain other funding instruments and as collateral on the First 
Citizens Bank borrowings: 

Financial instruments - pledged 
assets

2013
$’000 

2012
$’000 

Pledged against repurchase agreements 26,761 28,390
Pledged as collateral on borrowings (Note 25) 14,265 23,503

41,026 51,893

The value of repurchase agreements on the statement of financial position which are secured by pledged assets is 
$26,328 (2012-$28,918). The variance between investment pledged against repurchase agreements and the 
value of repurchase agreement represents accrued interest.
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16 Investment in associates
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Investment in associates 9,612 8,031

The investments in associates are as follows:
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Associate
At beginning of year 8,031 11,857
Provisions for loss – (5,308)
Share of profit in associate 1,581 1,482

At end of year 9,612 8,031

In 2010, the Group invested in Blue Coral Limited. Due to impairment indicators a provision of $5,308 
was recorded during 2012. 

The Group invested $6,800 and has a 28% shareholding in the East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of 
Antigua. The company is an unlisted company incorporated in St. Kitts. This undertaking represented the 
Group’s contribution to a joint initiative of indigenous banks of the East Caribbean Currency Union to salvage 
and restructure the previous Bank of Antigua Limited. 

The Group’s interest in its associate East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of Antigua, as at  
31 December 2013 is as follows:
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16 Investment in associates
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Investment in associates 9,612 8,031

The investments in associates are as follows:
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Associate
At beginning of year 8,031 11,857
Provisions for loss – (5,308)
Share of profit in associate 1,581 1,482

At end of year 9,612 8,031

In 2010, the Group invested in Blue Coral Limited. Due to impairment indicators a provision of $5,308 
was recorded during 2012. 

The Group invested $6,800 and has a 28% shareholding in the East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of 
Antigua. The company is an unlisted company incorporated in St. Kitts. This undertaking represented the 
Group’s contribution to a joint initiative of indigenous banks of the East Caribbean Currency Union to salvage 
and restructure the previous Bank of Antigua Limited. 

The Group’s interest in its associate East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of Antigua, as at  
31 December 2013 is as follows:
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16 Investment in associates…continued

East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of Antigua financial reporting period ends on 30 September.  
The Group’s interest in its associate East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of Antigua, as at 
31 December 2013 is as follows: 
 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current assets 61,469 89,652
Non-current assets 429,227 437,685
Liabilities (408,903) (451,123)
Preference Shares (47,869) (47,869)
Equity 33,924 28,345
% ownership 28% 28%
Carrying amount of the investment 9,612 8,031

 

The Company has an investment in Caribbean Credit Card Corporation Limited through both of its 
subsidiaries, Bank of Saint Lucia Limited and Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited. The combined 
ownership is 22.6%. The Company did not account for this investment as an associate as it does not have 
significant influence. The combined ownership results in one vote in favor of the Company against the other 
seven board member votes. 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
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17 Property and equipment

Land and
buildings

$’000

Leasehold
improvements

$’000

Motor 
vehicles

$’000

Office
furniture 

and
equipment

$’000

Computer
equipment

$’000

Work-in- 
progress

buildings
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended
31 December 2012

Opening net book amount 101,073 2,878 622 12,901 2,751 31,711 151,936
Additions 4,047 2,402 205 6,108 1,719 5,172 19,653
Disposals – (14) – (15) – (1,907) (1,936)
Impairment loss (1,727) – – – – (8,683) (10,410)
Depreciation charge (1,530) (956) (327) (3,426) (1,259) (16) (7,514)

Closing net book amount 101,863 4,310 500 15,568 3,211 26,277 151,729

At 31 December 2012

Cost or valuation 113,789 10,916 2,724 38,466 27,716 26,294 219,905
Accumulated depreciation (11,926) (6,606) (2,224) (22,898) (24,505) (17) (68,176)

Net book amount 101,863 4,310 500 15,568 3,211 26,277 151,729

Year ended
31 December 2013

Opening net book amount 101,863 4,310 500 15,568 3,211 26,277 151,729
Additions 239 37 677 2,993 1,190 186 5,322
Disposals – (4) (58) (134) – – (196)
Transfers 26,247 – – – (26,247) –
Depreciation charge (1,633) (1,025) (259) (3,531) (1,249) – (7,697)

Closing net book amount 126,716 3,318 860 14,896 3,152 216 149,158

At 31 December 2013

Cost or valuation 140,275 10,909 3,064 40,810 28,771 233 224,062
Accumulated depreciation (13,559) (7,591) (2,204) (25,914) (25,619) (17) (74,904)

Net book amount 126,716 3,318 860 14,896 3,152 216 149,158
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17 Property and equipment…continued

In 2012 land and buildings were revalued by an independent valuer based on open market value. The valuation 
indicates that the market value does not differ materially from the carrying amount of the respective assets in 
the books of the Group. 

The historical cost of land and buildings are: 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Cost 65,342 38,856
Accumulated depreciation based on historical cost (12,842) (11,209)

Depreciated historical cost 52,500 27,647

18 Investment properties

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Land and buildings
At beginning of year 15,302 17,249
Disposals (106) (2,337)
Fair value adjustment 19 390

At end of year 15,215 15,302

The investment properties are valued annually based on open market value by an independent, professionally 
qualified valuer.

The following amounts have been recognised in the statement of income:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Rental income 2,271 2,524
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that 

generate rental income 361 326
Direct operating expenses that did not generate rental income 493 470

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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19 Intangible assets
Computer

software
Other

intangibles Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 31 December 2012

Opening net book amount 3,406 6,404 9,810
Additions 890 – 890
Amortisation charge for the year (732) (1,285) (2,017)

Closing net book amount 3,564 5,119 8,683

At 31 December 2012

Cost 11,710 7,793 19,503
Accumulated amortisation (8,146) (2,674) (10,820)

Net book amount 3,564 5,119 8,683

Year ended 31 December 2013

Opening net book amount 3,564 5,119 8,683
Additions 575 – 575
Amortisation charge for the year (651) (1,285) (1,936)

Closing net book amount 3,488 3,834 7,322

At 31 December 2013

Cost 12,285 7,793 20,078
Accumulated amortisation (8,797) (3,959) (12,756)

Net book amount 3,488 3,834 7,322
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20 Other assets
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Suspense accounts 16,052 17,993
Suspense accounts- credit card 23,616 29,360
Prepaid expenses 2,960 3,331
Stationery and supplies 1,046 852
Accounts receivable 2,259 785
Accrued income 209 250

46,142 52,571

Less provision for impairment on other assets (Note 21) (3,052) (3,370)

43,090 49,201

As of 31 December 2013, included in suspense accounts were amounts totalling $ 3,052 (2012 – $3,370) which 
were deemed impaired and provided for.

21 Provision for impairment on other assets

The movement on the provision for impairment on other assets was as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

At beginning of year 3,370 2,918
Provisions made during the year 177 670
Write offs during the year (495) (218)

At end of year 3,052 3,370

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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22 Retirement benefit asset

Movement in the asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position: 

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows: 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012 

$’000

Beginning of year 35,398 33,216
Current service cost 1,769 1,830
Interest cost 2,712 2,410
Employee contribution 970 1,024
Actuarial gains (2,504) (2,656)
Benefits paid (1,209) (426)

End of year 37,136 35,398

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows: 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012 

$’000

Beginning of year 41,499 36,393
Actual return on plan assets 1,601 2,936
Employer contributions 1,647 1,742
Employee contributions 970 1,024
Benefits paid (1,209) (426)
Administrative expenses (104) (170)

End of year 44,404 41,499

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are determined as follows: 

2013 
$’000

Restated
2012 

$’000

Fair value of plan assets 44,404 41,499
Present value of funded obligation (37,136) (35,398)

Asset in the statement of financial position 7,268 6,101
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22 Retirement benefit asset...continued

2013 
$’000

Restated 
2012 

$’000

Net asset at beginning of year 6,101 3,177
Net periodic cost (1,424) (1,787)
Contributions paid 1,647 1,742
Effect of statement of other comprehensive income 944 2,969

Net asset at end of year 7,268 6,101

Benefit Cost

2013 
$’000

Restated 
2012 

$’000

Current Service cost 1,769 1,830
Net interest on net defined benefit asset 2,712 2,410
Expected return on plan assets (3,161) (2,623)
Administration expenses 104 170

Net periodic cost at end of year 1,424 1,787

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Gain from change in assumption – (1,673)
Gain from experience (2,504) (983)
Expected return on plan assets 3,161 2,623
Actual return on plan assets (1,601) (2,936)

(944) (2,969)

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

2013
%

2012
%

Discount rate 7.50 7.00
Future promotional salary increases 1.25 to 4.5 1.25 to 4.50
Future inflationary salary increases 2.00 2.00

Assumptions are set to approximate the expected average rates over the long term and may not be 
appropriate in any specific year.

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
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22 Retirement benefit asset...continued 

Plan assets allocation is as follows:
2013

%
2012

%

Debt securities 75 64
Equity securities 8 11
Other 17 25

100 100

The pension plan assets do not include assets or ordinary shares of the Group. 

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice, published statistics and 
experience in each territory.

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 60 after the statement of financial 
position date is as follows:

2013 2012

Male 24.35 24.26
Female 26.68 26.64

The assumption adopted for the expected return on assets considers the actual assets the Plan holds and the 
outlook for returns on various asset classes. This assumption is usually derived by looking at actual asset mix 
and making assumptions about returns relative to the “baseline” of the plan’s discount rate, which are taken to 
be the returns on government bonds.  
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22 Retirement benefit asset...continued 

Plan assets allocation is as follows:
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%
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%
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23 Deposits from banks
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Deposits from banks 108,872 102,213

The weighted average effective interest rate on deposits from banks was 5.17% (2012 – 3.75%). 

24 Due to customers
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Term deposits 968,174 881,441
Savings deposits 840,757 840,421
Call deposits 112,817 53,268
Demand deposits 1,124,723 921,239

3,046,471 2,696,369

Current 2,976,153 2,605,826
Non-current 70,318 90,543

3,046,471 2,696,369

The weighted average effective interest rate of customers’ deposits at 31 December 2013 was 2.37 %
(2012 – 2.70%). 

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
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25 Borrowings

Due

Interest
rate 

%
2013 
$’000

Interest
rate 

%

Restated
2012 
$’000

Other borrowed funds
Caribbean Development Bank 2017-2019 3.5 80,778 3.6 78,269
National Insurance Corporation (Saint Lucia) 2017 6.9 6,925 6.9 8,902
National Insurance Corporation (St. Vincent) 2014-2025 6.0 22,727 6.0 13,948
European Investment Bank 2027 3.3 14,006 3.3 15,664
First Citizens Bank 2014 6.4 4,951 6.4 20,533
Prodev bond 2017 7.5 25,279 7.5 13,305
ECHMB 2013-2041 58,459 53,292

213,125 203,913

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current 62,347 15,676
Non-current 150,778 188,237

213,125 203,913
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25 Borrowings...continued 

Certain of the above loans are secured by Government of Saint Lucia and Government of Saint Vincent 
and the Grenadines guarantees (Note 15) as well as securities held with respect to sub-loans made to 
customers under the various lines of credit.  

Security for loans issued to East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited, the parent company
includes a first hypothecary obligation over the building and property known as the Financial Center, 
which is located at #1 Bridge Street.

The loan from First Citizens Bank Limited is secured by a lien over or transfer to the lender of debt 
securities totaling $32,979 held by the Bank of Saint Lucia in the name of Petrotrin Limited, Government 
of Barbados, Government of Trinidad and Tobago, Government of Saint Lucia and East Caribbean Home 
Mortgage Bank Limited, and any other debt security acceptable to the lender. 

The Prodev bond issue matures in December 2017. 

The ECHMB borrowings represent the value of loans sold to ECHMB. The bank has the option of buying 
or selling loans to ECHMB as part of its liquidity management strategy. Under the terms of the 
agreement, Bank of St. Lucia Limited and Bank of St. Vincent Limited remain obligated to indemnify 
ECHMB with respect to any default, loss or title deficiency occurring during the life of the loans secured 
by the purchase of mortgages. The loans were previously reported “off balance sheet” however in 2013 
the economic impact of the transaction was reassessed as substantially different from its legal form and 
was accordingly reported “on balance sheet”. An equal amount is included within loans and advances and 
borrowings. Fees earned on the administration of the loans are reported in other income. The consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 were restated due to the above amendment.

There have not been any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to borrowings during 
the year.

26 Other liabilities 
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Trade and other payables 49,292 32,439
Interest payable 129 93
Managers’ cheques outstanding 3,821 5,231
Agency loans 855 798

54,097 38,561
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26 Other liabilities...continued

The agency loans are funds issued to the Group by the Government of Saint Lucia for disbursement to the 
related projects. The Group earns an agency fee on the amounts disbursed. The funds belong to the 
Government of Saint Lucia and the Group bears no risk in relation to these funds. 

Included in trade and other payables is retention payable to suppliers of $633 (2012 - $1,246).

27 Deferred tax asset

The movements on the deferred tax asset are as follows:
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

At beginning of year (6,291) (7,694)
Prior year tax – 492
Current year charge net (Note 42) 1,104 911

At end of year (5,187) (6,291)

The deferred tax account is detailed as follows:
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Accelerated capital allowances 3,487 2,402
Fair value of pension assets 889 1,623
Unutilised tax losses (9,563) (10,316)

(5,187) (6,291)

Deferred income taxes and liabilities are offset when there are legally enforceable rights to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal 
authority.
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28 Share capital 
No. of 

Shares
2013

$’000
No. of 

Shares
2012

$’000
Ordinary shares
Authorised:

50,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value
Issued and fully paid
At beginning and end of year 24,465,589 170,081 24,465,589 170,081

29 Contributed capital

Total capital contributions received at 31 December, were as follows:
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Productive Sector Equity Fund Incorporated 1,118 1,118
Student Loan Guarantee Fund 2,000 2,000
Add: capital contribution 1,000 –
Less: funds utilised against student impaired student loans (3,000) –

1,118 3,118

The figures above represent the contributions to the Group by Third Parties in support of the two funds 
listed.

30 Non-controlling interests

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

At beginning of year 46,668 46,283
Share of profit of subsidiaries 3,504 2,500
Share of unrealised loss on investments (90) (351)
Dividends paid – (1,764)

At end of year 50,082 46,668
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31 Reserves
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

(a)  General reserve 54,625 51,959
(b)  Statutory reserve 87,214 87,214
(c)  Student loan guarantee fund reserve 3,156 3,550
(d)  Special reserve 2,034 2,034
(e)  Retirement benefit reserve 7,268 6,101

Total reserves at 31 December 154,297 150,858

Movements in reserves were as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

(a) General
At beginning of year 51,959 51,959
Transferred from retained earnings 2,666 –

At end of year 54,625 51,959

It is the policy of the Group to maintain a general reserve for reinvestment in operations. Transfers to the 
reserve are based on a maximum of 35% of the consolidated Group’s profit for the year after transfers to 
statutory reserve.
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31 Reserves…continued

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

(b) Statutory
At beginning of year 87,214 87,214
Transferred from retained earnings – –

At end of year 87,214 87,214

Pursuant to Section 14(1) of the Banking Act of St. Lucia No. 34 of 2006, the Bank institutions shall, out of 
its net profits of each year transfer to that reserve a sum equal to not less than twenty percent of such profits 
whenever the amount of the fund is less than one hundred percent of the paid-up capital of the Banking 
institutions. 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

(c) Student loan guarantee fund
At beginning of year  3,550 3,082
Transferred from retained earnings 435 468
Capital Drawing (829) –

3,156 3,550

This is a non-distributable reserve. Transfers are made to the reserve at an amount equal to the net profit of 
the subsidiary Student Loan Guarantee Fund Limited.  

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

(d) Special 
At beginning of year 2,034 1,892
Transferred from retained earnings – 142

At end of year 2,034 2,034

The finance contract between the European Investment Bank (“EIB”) and the former St. Lucia Development 
Bank, now assumed by Bank of Saint Lucia Limited, requires the institution to establish and maintain a 
special reserve. Annually, an amount as specified under Section 6.05 of the Contract is credited to the 
reserve.
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31 Reserves…continued
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
(e) Retirement benefit
At beginning of year 6,101 3,177
Transferred from retained earnings 1,167 2,924

At end of year 7,268 6,101

The retirement benefit reserve is a non-distributable reserve. It is the Group’s policy to match the amount of 
fair value of retirement benefit plan assets with the retirement benefit reserve.

32 Dividends
2013 2012

Dividends
per share

$ $’000

Dividends
per share

$ $’000

On ordinary shares – – 0.10 2,447

33 Related party transactions and balances 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party by making financial and operational decisions. 
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33 Related party transactions and balances…continued

Interest income and interest expense with related parties were as follows:

2013 2012
Income Expense Income Expense

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Government of Saint Lucia 132 2,362 868 3,978
Statutory bodies 2,427 12,938 2,869 11,495
Directors and key management 478 496 539 225

Related party balances with the Group were as follows: 

2013 2012
Loans
$’000

Deposits
$’000

Loans
$’000

Deposits
$’000

Government of Saint Lucia 10,887 83,035 2,358 107,817
Statutory bodies 30,468 311,212 36,036 318,247
Directors and key management 8,961 5,960 8,720 6,670

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties.

The loans issued to directors and other key management personnel during the year are repayable monthly 
over an average of 5 years and have a weighted average effective interest rates of 6% (2012 - 6%). The 
secured loans advanced to the directors during the year are collateralised by mortgages over residential 
properties. 

Transactions with related parties were carried out on commercial terms and conditions.

Key management compensation
Key management includes the Group’s complete management team. The compensation paid or payable to 
key management for employee services is shown below:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 10,640 10,831
Pension costs 501 517

11,141 11,348

Directors remuneration 938 929
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34 Net interest income

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Interest income
Loans and advances 137,706 138,329
Treasury bills and investment securities 28,143 29,883
Cash and short-term funds 4,284 7,089

170,133 175,301

Interest expense
Time deposits 41,671 40,980
Borrowings 8,879 9,369
Savings deposits 28,077 27,515
Demand deposits 2,873 2,131
Correspondent banks 2,737 2,178

84,237 82,173

Net interest income 85,896 93,128

35 Net fee and commission income
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Fee and commission income
Credit related fees and commissions 29,029 25,454
Asset management and related fees 4,900 3,108

33,929 28,562
Commission expense (709) (684)

33,220 27,878
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35 Net foreign exchange trading income...continued
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Foreign exchange
Net realised gains 14,259 12,156
Net unrealised gains 486 912

14,745 13,068

36 Other operating income
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Rental income 2,271 2,524
Other 1,201 1,182

3,472 3,706

37 Net insurance premium revenue
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Insurance premium revenue 11,588 12,170
Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers (7,901) (6,527)

3,687 5,643

Net insurance claims
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses 2,239 3,757
Insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses
recovered from reinsurers (300) (581)

1,939 3,176
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38 Insurance liabilities

2013
$

2012
$

Provision for claims and loss adjustment expenses 2,939 3,410
Unearned premiums 5,581 5,968
Unearned commissions 498 565

Total insurance liabilities – gross 9,018 9,943

Reinsurance assets
Claims and loss adjustment expenses (1,775) (2,488) 
Deferred reinsurance premiums (2,916) (3,249) 

Total reinsurers' share of insurance liabilities (4,691) (5,737)

Net
Claims and loss adjustment expenses 1,164 922
Unearned premiums 2,664 2,719
Unearned commissions 499 565

Net insurance liabilities 4,327 4,206

39 Other gains
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
Other Gains 540 –
Gains on disposal of available-for-sale investment securities 14,202 1,620
Fair value gains on held for trading investment securities (499) 1,360
Fair value gain on investment property 19 390
Retirement benefit gains 224 (45)

14,486 3,325
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40 Operating expenses
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Employee benefit expense (Note 41) 47,393 43,864
Depreciation and amortisation 9,633 9,531
Utilities and telecommunications 7,741 7,314
Repairs and maintenance 5,938 4,429
Advertising and promotion 3,353 3,176
Bank and other licences 1,936 1,646
Security 2,267 1,659
Printing and stationery 1,765 1,746
Legal and professional fees 3,083 4,090
Insurance 1,684 1,576
Credit card & IDC visa charges 5,670 5,511
Borrowing fees 295 424
Corporate responsibility 397 658
Broker fees 248 1,298
Interest levy 3,826 4,054
Bank charges 1,754 1,288
Business development 606 918
Travel and entertainment 1,055 1,205
Other expenses 10,411 8,277

109,055 102,664

41 Employee benefit expense
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Wages and salaries 37,440 33,914
Other staff cost 8,503 8,242
Pensions 1,450 1,708

47,393 43,864
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42 Income tax expense/(recovery)
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Current tax 1,335 985
Prior year tax – 1,192
Deferred tax charge (Note 27) 1,104 911

2,439 3,088

Tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the statutory tax rate of 30% as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Profit/(Loss) profit for the year before income tax 6,139 (119,572)

Tax calculated at the applicable tax rate of 30% 1,842 (35,872)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax (8,867) (6,781)
Deferred tax asset unrecognised 7,758 29,494
Prior year under provision of deferred tax – 667
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,706 15,857
Under provision of income tax – (277)

2,439 3,088

The Group has unutilised tax losses of $31,737 (2012 – $34,055) for which a deferred tax asset has been 
recognised due to the certainty of its recoverability. Unutilized tax losses may be carried forward and 
deducted against 50% of future taxable income within six years following the year in which the losses were 
incurred. The losses are based on income tax returns, which have not yet been assessed by the Inland 
Revenue Department. The Group also has unutilised tax losses of $127,173 (2012 – $101,943) for which no 
deferred tax asset has been recognized.

Tax losses expire as follows: 
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

2013 – 222
2014 802 802
2015 149 149
2016 22,259 24,578
2017 11,920 11,920
2018 98,327 98,327
2019 25,453 –

158,910 135,998

There was no income tax effect relating to components of other comprehensive income. 
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43 Earnings per share

Basic
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of ($95) 
(2012 – ($125,451)) and 24,465 (2012 – 24,424) shares, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue in each year. For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the (loss)/profit for the year 
attributable to ordinary shares is the (loss)/profit for the year after deducting preference dividends of  $291
(2012 – $291).

Diluted
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the loss/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
($95) (2012 – ($125,451) and 24,465 (2012 – 25,254) shares, being the weighted average number of shares in 
issue. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the (loss) / profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary shares is the (loss) / profit for the year after deducting preference dividends of  $291 (2012 – $291). 

44 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 6) 42,070 70,761
Deposits with other banks (Note 8) 845,537 442,852
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions (Note 10) 1,605 1,340

889,212 514,953

45 Contingent liabilities and commitments

Commitments
The following table indicates the contractual amounts of the Group financial instruments that commit it to 
extend credit to customers.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Loan commitments 88,896 138,941
Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 33,672 40,295

122,568 179,236

Capital Commitment
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred for construction 
of buildings is $3,813. 
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45 Contingent liabilities and commitments …continued

Contingent liabilities

Operating leases
The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Not later than 1 year 296 2,043
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years – 2,468

296 4,511

46 Principal subsidiary undertakings
Holding

2013
%

2012
%

Bank of Saint Lucia Limited 100 100
Bank of Saint Lucia International Limited 100 100
ECFH Global Investment Solution Limited 100 100
EC Global Insurance Company Limited 70 70
Bank of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Limited 51 51
Student Loan Guarantee Fund Limited ** – –
Productive Sector Equity Fund Incorporated ** – –

Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited is incorporated in St. Vincent and the Grenadines. All 
other subsidiaries are incorporated in Saint Lucia. 

 ** Allotment of shares have not been completed at the reporting date.



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 2013 141n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

102

45 Contingent liabilities and commitments …continued

Contingent liabilities

Operating leases
The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Not later than 1 year 296 2,043
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years – 2,468

296 4,511

46 Principal subsidiary undertakings
Holding

2013
%

2012
%

Bank of Saint Lucia Limited 100 100
Bank of Saint Lucia International Limited 100 100
ECFH Global Investment Solution Limited 100 100
EC Global Insurance Company Limited 70 70
Bank of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Limited 51 51
Student Loan Guarantee Fund Limited ** – –
Productive Sector Equity Fund Incorporated ** – –

Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited is incorporated in St. Vincent and the Grenadines. All 
other subsidiaries are incorporated in Saint Lucia. 

 ** Allotment of shares have not been completed at the reporting date.



East CaribbEan FinanCial Holding annual rEport 2013142 n

setting 
a new 
course 
for a 
brighter
day

east caribbean financial holding company limited

notes to the consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended 31 december 2013
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

103

47 Cumulative preference shares

No. of 
shares

2013
$’000

No. of 
Shares

2012
$’000

7% Cumulative preference shares
Authorised:

11,550,000 preference shares
At beginning and end of year 830,000 4,150 830,000 4,150

The preference shares are non-voting and are to be converted to ordinary shares. The Group has imposed 
certain restrictions with respect to the number of preference shares that can be converted to ordinary shares 
in any one year.

The Board of Directors of the Company and the National Insurance Corporation have formally agreed that 
future conversions of preference shares should be done at $5 per share.

Dividends declared and unpaid on the preference shares during the year amounted to $291 (2012 – $291).

48 Subsequent events

During the period subsequent to 31 December 2013, the Group entered into an agreement to sell its General 
Insurance Subsidiary, EC Global Insurance. 
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